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CORPORATE INFORMATION
a) Investment and Loans Committee
Task: To strategise and provide oversight so that the Co-operative continues to
meet proﬁt targets and regulatory requirements for its capital adequacy and
liquidity ratios
~ Scope of Work
• Investment
- Work out and oversee the Co-operative’s investment strategies and
policies
- Approve purchases and sales of restricted and non-restricted
investments as per Written Direction issued by the Registrar of
Co-operative Societies
- Approve ﬁxed deposit placements in ﬁnancial institutions regulated by
the Monetary Authority of Singapore
- Set rental rates for investment properties
- Source for and evaluate new business opportunities
• Savings and Loans
- Work out and oversee policies and procedures for savings and loan
products oﬀered by the Co-operative
- Set rates for savings and loan products oﬀered by the Co-operative
- Approve IT projects relating to Thrift and Loan System subject to budget
endorsed by the Board
Chairman:
Members:

Mr Lim Chin Tiak
Ms Chong Hung Li Grace
Mr Foo Kwee Pinh (up to 8 June 2016)
Ms Ng Ee Fong Evon
Mr Teo Hoon San

b) Audit Committee
Task: To oversee the Co-operative’s accounting & operational policies and procedures
Chairman:
Members:

Mr Cheong Chee Ming (up to 8 June 2016)
Mr Moh Tser Loong Alvin (from 9 June 2016)
Mr Chua Chuan Seng
Mr Samad Bin Halil
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
c) Remuneration Committee
Task: To set personnel and remuneration policies
Chairman:
Members:

Mr Loy Chye Meng
Mr Foo Kwee Pinh (up to 8 June 2016)
Mr Lim Chin Tiak
Mr Loh Jee Cheong (from 9 June 2016)
Mr Tan Chia Han

d) Membership & Well-Being Committee
Task: To strategise and provide oversight on the Co-operative’s eﬀorts to retain
current members and recruit new members
Chairman:
Members:

Mr Lim Chee Pheng (up to 8 June 2016)
Mr Chong Huat Suang Alvin (from 9 June 2016)
Mr Balakrishnan Anbarasan
Mr Lim Eng Chye
Mr Samad Bin Halil
Mr Teo Hoon San

e) Editorial Committee
Task: To oversee contents of quarterly newsletters, website and other publications
Head:
Member:

Mr Tan Chia Han
Mr Chong Huat Suang Alvin
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Shareholdings in Companies with Board Representation*
The Singapore
Police Co-operative
Society Ltd

Premier Security
Co-operative Ltd*
(42%)

Secom
(Singapore)
Pte Ltd*
(7%)

ProVision
Technology
(Asia Pacific)
Pte Ltd
(44.57%)

Choice Décor
Co-operative
Society Ltd*
(99.75%)

D’GARDE
Security Pte Ltd
(100%)
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SPCS
Consultancy
Pte Ltd*
(100%)

AA-SPCS
Services
Pte Ltd*
(30%)

86TH

MINUTES OF THE
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Minutes of the 86th Annual General Meeting held on 9th June 2016 at 1114 hrs at
Home TeamNS–JOM Clubhouse, Function Hall, 31 Ah Hood Road, Singapore 329979
Present

MR HOONG WEE TECK
President, Commissioner of Police
And 123 members

AGENDA 1: OPENING ADDRESS BY THE CHAIRMAN, MR CHRISTOPHER NG
1.1 The 86th Annual General Meeting (AGM) was called to order by Secretary, Mr
Tan Chia Han at 1114 hours with a quorum of 123 members. Chairman of The
Singapore Police Co-operative Society Ltd, Mr Christopher Ng, was invited by
Secretary to make his opening speech.
Chairman started by welcoming the President, Directors and all members
present in the AGM. He also expressed his gratitude to the Board of Directors
and the Management Team led by General Manager, Ms Elizabeth Ngeo, for
the hard work in ensuring that the Society continued to provide good services
and good returns for its members.
Three Directors, Mr Lim Chee Pheng, Mr Cheong Chee Ming and Mr Foo Kwee
Pinh, were not standing for re-election in the AGM. Chairman shared his
appreciation for their hard work as follows:
Mr Lim Chee Pheng had served the Society faithfully for ten years. He joined
the Board since June 2006 and had headed many Committees, the most
recent being the Chairman of the Membership and Well-Being Committee
since June 2014. The number of members had increased by more than 10%
during his two-year tenure to more than 12,000 members today. Mr Lim Chee
Pheng was also the Chairman of Premier Security Co-operative Ltd, a joint
venture company of the Society, since June 2008. Under his sterling
leadership, the Society had consistently received 10% annual returns from its
investment on Premier Security Co-operative Ltd. At Board meetings, Mr Lim
had also provided tangible and strong advices and was involved in active
discussions of the Society’s operations.
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Mr Cheong Chee Ming had served the Society for eight years. He joined the
Board since June 2008. He had headed many Committees but the most
notable one was his role as Chairman of the Audit Committee since June 2014.
In early 2016, Deloitte Singapore, commissioned by The Registry of
Co-operative Societies, conducted a special audit on the Society on internal
controls and corporate governance which included the audit for compliance
with the draft Code of Corporate Governance. The audit ﬁndings showed that
the Society did very well, scoring an indicative overall Good rating, the highest
rating score available to credit co-operatives. This reaﬃrmed that the Society
had in place good corporate governance and internal controls to protect
members’ assets. Mr Cheong had indeed put in a lot of eﬀort to make this
possible.
Mr Foo Kwee Pinh joined the Board in June 2015 and had served the Society for
one year in Investment and Loans Committee and Remuneration Committee.
Chairman wished them all the best in their future endeavours.
Chairman closed his speech by informing the meeting that it was an
election-year, and members would be voting for the directors to be elected to
the Board of Directors. He urged members to vote wisely, and stressed that
elected representatives must be able and willing to continue the good work of
their predecessors.
Chairman then invited the President, Commissioner of Police, Mr Hoong Wee
Teck, to address the members.
AGENDA 2: ADDRESS BY THE PRESIDENT, COMMISSIONER OF POLICE,
MR HOONG WEE TECK
2.1 Mr Hoong Wee Teck addressed members and declared the AGM open. The
text of his speech is attached at Annex A.
2.2

Following the address, Mr Hoong Wee Teck and Mr Loy Chye Meng,
Vice-Chairman of Police Co-operative, took their leave.

2.3

The meeting proceeded with Chairman of Police Co-operative, Mr Christopher Ng,
conducting the AGM.
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AGENDA 3: TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE 85TH AGM HELD ON 24TH JUNE
2015 AT HOME TEAMNS-JOM CLUBHOUSE
3.1 There being no objections from the meeting, the minutes were approved as
proposed by Mr Soong Boon Seong and seconded by Mr Tan Eng Thiam Amos.
AGENDA 4: MATTERS ARISING FROM THE SAID MINUTES
4.1 There were no matters arising.
AGENDA 5: TO RECEIVE & IF APPROVED, TO ADOPT THE REPORT OF THE BOARD
OF DIRECTORS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
5.1 The Report was approved as proposed by Mr Tan Lee Teck and seconded by
Ms Luo Yun Yan.
AGENDA 6: TO RECEIVE & IF APPROVED, TO ACCEPT THE STATEMENT OF ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
6.1 The Statement of Accounts was approved as proposed by Mr Choo Chun Nam
and seconded by Ms Tay Keng Bee.
AGENDA 7: TO APPROVE THE APPROPRIATION OF NET SURPLUS OF $4,321,085
AS FOLLOWS:
7.1 Secretary read out the appropriation of net surplus as follows:
(1) To Central Co-operative Fund
@ 5% on the ﬁrst $500,000 &
@ 20% on the rest............................................................................. $ 777,217
(2) To Payment of Dividends @ 3.50% on the members’ shares and
subscription as on 31st December 2014......................................... $2,253,685
(3) To Scholarship Fund........................................................................ $ 13,000
(4) To General Reserve Fund................................................................ $ 500,000
(5) To Common Good Fund.................................................................. $ 50,000
(6) To Accumulated Fund..................................................................... $ 727,183
7.2

The appropriation was approved as proposed by Mr Soong Boon Seong and
seconded by Ms Clara d/o Saminathan.

AGENDA 8: TO APPROVE A FINAL DIVIDEND PAYMENT OF 3.50% BASED ON
MEMBERS’ SHARES AND SUBSCRIPTION AS AT 31ST DECEMBER 2015
TO BE PAID IN FY2016
8.1 The dividend payment was approved as proposed by Mr Mohammed Yakoob
Mohd Raﬁq and seconded by Mr Chang Cheong Woon Andrew.
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AGENDA 9: TO APPROVE THE ADJUSTMENTS FOR FY2016 AND THE ESTIMATED
EXPENDITURE FOR FY2017
9.1 The adjustments for FY2016 and the Estimated Expenditure for FY2017 were
approved as proposed by Mr Low Li Wei and seconded by Mr Lim Tang Chye.
AGENDA 10: TO ADOPT, AND IF APPROVED, THE FOLLOWING RESOLUTION:
“that the meeting approves the revised portfolio allocation mix:
No.
a
b
c
d
e
f

Current

Proposed

Corporate Bonds

max 70%

max 87.5%

Securities listed on SGX
Investment Properties
Joint Ventures
Unit Trust
Managed Funds

max 20%
max 15%
max 10%
max 5%
max 10%

max 10.0%
max 2.5%
-

Portfolio

(approved on 5 June 2014)

(including variable notes)

With the proposed investment plan, the Board hopes to generate annual
returns of between 2.5% to 4% per annum for the period of 3 years
commencing from July 2016.
All investment transactions are to be approved by the Investment Committee
and/or the Board.”
10.1 The resolution was approved as proposed by Mr Khoo Kok Kwang and
seconded by Mr Soong Boon Seong.
AGENDA 11: TO AUTHORISE THE BOARD TO APPOINT A PROFESSIONAL AUDIT
FIRM, WHERE NECESSARY, TO BE INTERNAL AUDITORS OF THE
CO-OPERATIVE FOR 2016/2017 AND TO FIX ITS REMUNERATION
11.1 There being no objection from the meeting, the appointment of a
professional audit ﬁrm as Internal Auditors of the Co-operative for 2016/2017
was approved as proposed by Mr Chean Chee Mun and seconded by
Ms Tay Keng Bee.
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AGENDA 12: TO AUTHORISE THE BOARD TO APPOINT TWO MEMBERS, WHERE
NECESSARY, AS INTERNAL AUDITORS OF THE CO-OPERATIVE
FOR 2016/2017 AND TO FIX THEIR REMUNERATION
12.1 There being no objection from the meeting, the appointment of two
members as Internal Auditors of the Co-operative for 2016/2017 was approved
as proposed by Ms Teo Yanqing and seconded by Mr Tan Lee Teck.
AGENDA 13: TO AUTHORISE THE BOARD TO APPOINT A PROFESSIONAL AUDIT
FIRM AS EXTERNAL AUDITORS OF THE CO-OPERATIVE FOR 2016/2017
AND TO FIX ITS REMUNERATION
13.1 There being no objection from the meeting, the appointment of a
professional audit ﬁrm as External Auditors of the Co-operative for 2016/2017
was approved as proposed by Mr Lai Thong Fock and seconded by
Ms Tay Keng Bee.
AGENDA 14: TO ELECT 8 MEMBERS TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AS PER BY-LAW 7.1
14.1 Secretary explained the procedures for the election of the 8 directors. He then
invited the meeting to nominate candidates for the 8 vacancies on the board.
14.2 The nomination of candidates was closed as proposed by Mr Tan Eng Soon
and seconded by Mr Soong Boon Seong after the eighth candidate was
nominated.
14.3 The results of the election were as follows:
NO. CANDIDATE

PROPOSER

SECONDER

RESULT

1

LOH JEE CHEONG

TAN ENG SOON

KHOO KOK KWANG

ELECTED

2

ALVIN MOH TSER LOONG

LAI THONG FOCK

TAN LEE TECK

ELECTED

3

TEO CHUN CHING

TAY KENG BEE

CHAN ZHIYAO

ELECTED

4

TEO HOON SAN

RAMESH S/O DORASAMY

YOONG KEE SHENG

ELECTED

5

LIM CHIN TIAK

PNG TIAN WEI ROYSTON

SONG KHENG LEONG

ELECTED

6

BALAKRISHNAN ANBARASAN

TAN ENG THIAM AMOS

BOH TECK BOON KENARD

ELECTED

7

CHUA CHUAN SENG

CHONG AI LIN JOYCE

YANG NYUK LAN ANGELINE ELECTED

8

GRACE CHONG HUNG LI

GOH CHEE KEONG MICHAEL LUO YUN YAN
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AGENDA 15: TO TRANSACT ANY OTHER BUSINESS IN RESPECT OF WHICH NOTICE
HAS BEEN RECEIVED BY THE SECRETARY THREE WORKING DAYS
BEFORE THE MEETING
15.1 Secretary reported that no notice for any other business was received.
15.2 There being no other matters to discuss, Chairman thanked the members for
their attendance. The meeting ended at 1143 hours.

Recorded by

Conﬁrmed by

Tan Chia Han
Secretary

Christopher Ng
Chairman
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Annex A
Speech by Mr Hoong Wee Teck, Commissioner of Police,
at the 86th AGM of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society
Thursday, 11am, 9 June 2016, HTNS-JOM Clubhouse

Chairman,
Directors,
Management Team,
and Members,
Good Morning.
90 years ago, on 18th August 1926, our co-op was founded as a thrift and loan
society by 85 police oﬃcers.
2 Their aim was to promote co-operation and self-help, and to prevent fellow
oﬃcers from falling into debt.
3 Through their activities, they worked to collectively grow their savings so that
they could better provide for themselves and their families.
4 The Co-op’s achievements over the past 90 years have been impressive.
5 Today, the Co-op manages more than 220 million dollars’ worth of assets and
runs subsidiaries dealing with security, training and consultancy services.
6 From being allocated oﬃce space by the Police Welfare Division, the Co-op now
owns its own oﬃce and investment properties. From the initial 85 members,
we have more than 12,000 members today.
7 The Co-op did well in 2015.
8 Notwithstanding the challenging economic environment, the Co-op registered
a net surplus of 4.32 million dollars for FY2015.
9 The Co-op’s total assets also registered an 8% increase at the end of
2015 to 221.9 million dollars.
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10 I must commend the Board for the good results. The Board of Directors has
recommended a 3.5% dividend payout for FY2015, the same rate as for FY2014.
11 I served in the Co-op for a number of years, so I know how challenging it is for a
co-operative to continue to deliver returns to its members during tough
economic times.
12 Sustaining the same rate of returns is not guaranteed. Members may have to be
prepared to see the dividend rates dip if the Co-op’s investments and operations
do not generate comparable returns.
13 More importantly, members need to take a prudent approach in managing your
personal ﬁnances, and set aside suﬃcient savings for rainy days. However,
should the members face any diﬃculties, the Co-op will be there to support
them in times of need.
14 Managing the Co-op well is not all about generating returns. Good corporate
governance is also essential.
15 Last year, the Co-op underwent an audit initiated by the Registrar of
Co-operatives. I am pleased to note that there were no red ﬂags surfaced and
that the issues raised by the auditors have been addressed by the Co-op.
16 In the coming year, the Co-op will continue try to keep interest rates for deposits
and loans competitive.
17 The Co-op will continue to look out for our members, including setting aside
funds for the Common Good Fund, the Scholarship Fund, sponsoring unit
functions and organising activities and getaways.
18 I express gratitude and appreciation to the current Board and the Management
Team under Ms Elizabeth Ngeo for the hard work they have put in during the
current term. They have served the Co-op with great dedication.
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19 A new Board will be formed today. Under By-Law 7.1(a), I am pleased to appoint
the following seven Directors to the new Board:
1. Mr. Christopher Ng
2. Mr. Loy Chye Meng
3. Mr. Tan Chia Han
4. Ms. Evon Ng
5. Mr. Lim Eng Chye
6. Mr. Alvin Chong
7. Mr. Samad Bin Halil
20 The remaining members of the new Board will be elected by you, the members
later on in the AGM.
21 With this, I wish the Police Co-operative and the Board of Directors a successful
year ahead.
22 I now declare the 86th AGM open.
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MINUTES OF THE EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING
held on 19th October 2016 at 1106 hrs at Home TeamNS–JOM Clubhouse,
Function Hall, 31 Ah Hood Road, Singapore 329979
Present: 93 members
~ OPENING ADDRESS BY CHAIRMAN, MR CHRISTOPHER NG
1 Chairman called the Extraordinary General Meeting (EOGM) to order at 1106
hours. He welcomed all directors and members present. He said that the purpose
of the EOGM was to pass a resolution to increase the maximum liability of the Society.
AGENDA
2.1 Secretary, Mr Tan Chia Han, announced that there was a quorum as 90 members
were present at the meeting.
(Note: There were 93 members comprising 71 ordinary members and 22 associate
members in attendance eventually. 3 additional members attended the meeting
while Secretary was making the announcement.)
2.2 He read the following proposed resolution:
“that all members present at the meeting authorise the Society to receive up to
$245 million (from current $205 million) in deposits from members and their
immediate family members.”
2.3 He invited Co-operative staﬀ, Ms Annie Yeo, to explain the rationale for passing
the resolution and the derivation of the $245 million ﬁgure (Refer to Annex I for
the presentation slides.)
2.4 Secretary then invited members present to approve the resolution.
2.5 The resolution was approved as proposed by Ms Tay Keng Bee and seconded by
Ms Png Kai Heng Mary.
3

There being no other matters to discuss, Secretary thanked the members for
their attendance. The meeting ended at 1111 hours.
Recorded by

Conﬁrmed by

Tan Chia Han
Secretary

Christopher Ng
Chairman
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EOGM 19th OCTOBER 2016

Annex I

1. Maximum liability:
Under Section 68 of the
Co-operative Societies Act, a
credit society shall determine at
the general meeting the
maximum liability which it may
incur in loans or deposits from its
members and their immediate
family members.

The Singapore Police
Co-operative Society Ltd
EOGM 19th October 2016

3. Total Deposits from
members and their
immediate family
members

2. Police Co-op’s deposits
comprise the followings:
- Speciﬁc Deposits;
- Subscription Savings;
- Subscription-To-Savings Scheme
(STSS); and
- Member’s Fixed Deposits.

Balance as at
Total Deposit (S$)
31 st December 2014 175,530,900.00
31st December 2015 191,396,004.00
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4. Maximum liability
approved on 24th June 2015
Description

Amount (S$)

Deposits limit approved during
85th AGM (24th June 2015)

205 million

5. Projected Growth in
Membership

6. Projected Net Deposits

7. Maximum liability up
to 30th June 2019

Description
Maximum liability up
to 30th June 2019
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Amount (S$)
245 million
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Dear Members,
The Board of Directors is pleased to present the Annual Report, Statement of
Accounts and Balance Sheet for the year ending 31 December 2016.
THE YEAR IN REVIEW
1. Net Surplus
The Society recorded a net surplus of $4,001,034 for the year under review. This was
a decrease of 7.41% as compared to FY2015’s net surplus of $4,321,085.
The Co-operative held an extra-ordinary general meeting on 19 October 2016 to
pass a resolution to increase the amount it could receive in deposits from members
and their immediate family members from $205 million to $245 million. This is a
requirement under Section 68 of the Co-operative Societies Act. The Co-operative
receives funds on a monthly and ad hoc basis from existing and new members.
Limited options1, however, remain for the Co-operative to invest its funds received
from members in a low interest rate environment. Furthermore, such funds
increase the total assets of the Co-operative, which directly aﬀect its Capital
Adequacy Ratio. The Board has taken steps to decelerate the inﬂow of funds into
the Co-operative though adjustments in savings rates and revising the maximum
cap for the savings products.

1

Options are restricted by Written Direction for Investments issued by the Registry of
Co-operative Societies on 31 May 2010. The eﬀective date of the Written Direction was
30 June 2010.
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Table 1: Change in Net Surplus for FY 2012-2016
Financial Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

Net Surplus
$4,507,681
$4,645,434
$4,301,624
$4,321,085
$4,001,034

% Change (Year on Year)
2.27%
3.06%
7.40%
0.45%
7.41%

2. Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR)
In its Updated Written Directions for Credit Co-operatives dated 29 June 2016, the
Registry of Co-operative Societies advised that the Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR)
for credit societies would have to be increased according to the following time
frame:
Table 2: Capital Adequacy Ratio and Loan Limits
Eﬀective Dates and Qualifying Conditions

Loan Limits on Unsecured General Loans

From 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2020
Tier A: at least 10% CAR and 15% MLA2

Tier A:
$50,000 or 6 months’ income**, whichever is less
$30,000 or 4 months’ income*, whichever is less

Tier B: at least 8% CAR and 15% MLA
Tier C: less than 8% CAR or 15% MLA

From 1 July 2020 onwards
Tier A: at least 12% CAR and 15% MLA
Tier B: at least 10% CAR and 15% MLA

Tier B:
$40,000 or 6 months’ income**, whichever is less
$20,000 or 4 months’ income*, whichever is less
Tier C:
$20,000 or 4 months’ income**, whichever is less
$10,000 or 2 months’ income*, whichever is less

Tier C: less than 10% CAR or 15% MLA
** loan to be granted has salary check-oﬀ or at least one qualiﬁed surety
* loan to be granted has no salary check-oﬀ and no qualiﬁed surety
2

MLA stands for Minimum Liquid Assets – which consist of cash, deposits in savings, current and
ﬁxed deposit accounts as well as Singapore Government Securities. As at 31 December 2016, the
Co-operative has a MLA of 50%.
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Table 3 : Calculation of Capital Adequacy Ratio
CAR is calculated as follows:
CAR (%) =

Institutional Capital
Total Assets

x 100

Institutional Capital = Accumulated Fund + General Reserve Fund
CAR would ensure that the Co-operative will have suﬃcient
institutional capital to absorb unforeseen operating losses
As at 31 December 2016, the Co-operative has a CAR of 9.45% after
appropriations for FY2016.
It is important for the Co-operative to achieve the 10% CAR threshold taking into
consideration the following attendant eﬀects:
a. As a result of the Co-operative moving from Tier A to Tier B, the amount of
loan that can be granted to each member is reduced, which is to the
detriment of members seeking loans from the Co-operative; and
b. The loan business correspondingly shrinks and there is a negative impact on
net surplus.
To improve CAR, the Co-operative has to either increase its Institutional Capital
or reduce its Total Assets.
The Co-operative’s MLA of 50% as at 31 December is much higher than the
regulatory requirement of 15%.
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3. Dividends
To improve the CAR of the Co-operative, the Board of Directors has recommended
a dividend payment of 3.00% based on the total subscription balance as at
31 December 2016. For share capital, dividends would be paid out on a pro-rata
basis, from 1 January to 31 December 2016, provided the member was still a
shareholder as of 31 December 2016.
The recommended rate by the Board is still competitive as compared to those
oﬀered by banks and ﬁnance companies.
Table 4: Comparison of Savings Rates
Financial Police Co-operative
Year
Dividend Rate
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

3.75%
3.50%
3.50%
3.50%
3.00%

Rates from Financial Institution (FI)
Banks Savings Deposits* Finance Companies (FC)
Savings Deposits*
0.11%
0.17%
0.10%
0.17%
0.11%
0.17%
0.14%
0.17%
0.14%
0.17%

*Information from the website of the Monetary Authority of Singapore
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4. Membership
Under by-law 4.5.1, the following obligatory dues shall become payable on taking
up of membership:
a)
entrance fee (current $10 for ordinary and $20 for associate):
b)
payment for at least one hundred and ﬁfty (150) shares; and
c)
a minimum monthly subscription which is currently $40.
In 2016, 1,002 new ordinary and associate members joined the Co-operative.
Table 5: Number of Members
Financial
Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

New

Resignations

Ordinary

Associate

1,053
1,441
1,148
1,185
1,002

550
519
528
462
482

8,251
9,022
9,452
10,059
10,504

1,674
1,825
2,015
2,131
2,206

Total
(Ordinary & Associate)
9,925
10,847
11,467
12,190
12,710

1,674

1,825

2,015

2,131

2,206

8,251

9,022

9,452

10,059

10,504
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4.1 Recruitment
In FY2016, the Co-operative conducted 59 recruitment talks at various Police
divisions, Immigration & Checkpoints Authority, AETOS, Certis Cisco and Home
Team Academy3.
In compliance with changes to Inland Revenue Authority of Singapore (IRAS)
income tax laws, all credit co-operatives will have to obtain an Individual Tax
Residency Self-Certiﬁcation from the account holder upon the opening of all
new accounts with eﬀect from 1 January 2017. Henceforth, the Co-operative’s
recruitment talks will be primarily focused on Singapore Citizens or Permanent
Residents of Singapore.
4.2 Membership Recruitment Drive: Incentives for New and Existing Members
Existing Members
From 1 August 2012 to 28 February 2017, an existing member would receive $25,
which would be credited into his Speciﬁc Deposits (SD) Account, for every new
applicant proposed by him and successfully accepted as a member of the
Co-operative. An amount of $15,950 was credited into the SD Accounts of
members in FY2016 compared to an amount of $16,750 in FY2015.
With eﬀect from 1 March 2017, an existing member would receive $25 worth of
vouchers, instead of cash, for referring a new member.
New Members
Potential members who personally visited the Co-operative’s oﬃce with
completed membership forms and accompanying documents (a copy each of
NRIC, payslip and bank book) received free gifts from the Co-operative.

3

34 recruitment talks were conducted in FY2015.
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With eﬀect from 1 March 2017, the Co-operative will not accept applications of
membership via fax/email. The completed set of documents must be submitted
in person at the Co-operative’s oﬃce.

4.3 25 Years Loyalty Award
There were 226 members who joined the Co-operative during the period 1 July
1990 to 30 June 1991. Each eligible member received $150 credited into his
Speciﬁc Deposits Account. A total of $33,900 was disbursed for the award.
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5. Total Deposits
As at 31 December 2016, total deposits (subscription, subscription-to-savings,
speciﬁc and ﬁxed deposits) collected from members (excluding staﬀ)
amounted to $203,503,2764.

5.1 Subscription
The total subscription for FY2016 was $79,158,636.
This is a compulsory monthly savings scheme. The current minimum monthly
contribution per month is $40. The current maximum monthly cap for monthly
subscription savings is $200.
Dividends were paid out based on a member’s subscription balance as at
31 December 2016.
With eﬀect from 1 January 2017, members who used to contribute more than
$200 monthly to their subscription capital account will be capped at a
maximum of $200 per month.

4

Total deposit collected in FY2015 was $191,396,005.
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Table 6: Subscription Balance from FY2012 to FY2016
Financial
Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

Subscription
Balance
$
53,239,090
63,844,545
63,470,021
76,866,566
79,158,636

Absolute Increase (Decrease)
over Preceding Year
$
2,935,865*
10,605,455
(374,524)*
13,396,545
2,292,070*

% Increase (Decrease)
over Preceding Year
$
5.84%
19.92%
(0.57)%
21.11%
2.98%

*Transfer to STSS

5.2 Subscription-to-Savings (STS) Scheme
The STS Scheme was launched in 2011 by the Co-operative. Eligible members
were issued with letters of participation from the Co-operative. Upon agreeing,
they were required to transfer funds from their Subscription Account to the STS
Account.
Series 1
Series 1 matured on 31 October 2014 and was replaced by Series 3.
Series 2
Series 2 matured on 31 October 2016 and was replaced by Series 5.
Series 3
The Co-operative launched Series 3 to replace Series 1. Under Series 3, members
would enjoy an interest rate of 4% per annum for the period 1 November 2014 to
31 October 2019. There would be claw-back of interest in the event of early
redemptions. A principal amount of $18,138,706 was rolled over from Series 1 to
Series 3 by 1,560 members. As at 31 December 2016, the amount was $17,279,976.
Series 4
Under Series 4 of the STSS, members would enjoy an interest rate of 3.75% per
annum for the period 1 November 2014 to 31 October 2018. There would be clawback of interest in the event of early redemptions. An amount of $12,189,838 was
transferred to Series 4 by 2,156 members. As at 31 December 2016, the amount
was $11,749,972.
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Series 5
The Co-operative launched Series 5 to replace Series 2. Under Series 5, members
would enjoy an interest rate of 3.50% per annum for the period 1 November 2016
to 31 October 2020. There would be claw-back of interest in the event of early
redemptions. A principal amount of $3,930,228 was rolled over from Series 2 to
Series 5 by 931 members. As at 31 December 2016, the amount was $3,923,058.
Series 6
Under Series 6 of the STSS, members would enjoy an interest rate of 3.25% per
annum for the period 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2021. There would be clawback of interest in the event of early redemptions. An amount of $10,521,726 was
transferred to Series 6 by 2,058 members. As at 31 December 2016, the amount
was $10,520,526.
The STS total for FY2016 was $43,473,532.
5.3 Speciﬁc Deposits
The speciﬁc deposits total for FY2016 was $53,176,269.
This is a discretionary savings scheme. The current minimum and maximum
monthly savings sum is $10 and $2,500 respectively. With eﬀect from 1 October
2016, the maximum monthly sum has been revised to $500. Members who are
contributing more than $500 monthly before the revised cap eﬀective from
1 October 2016 will not be aﬀected.
For deductions via members’ salaries, the 50% salary deduction guideline
(i.e. total deductions could not exceed 50% of gross salary) will apply.
The interest for speciﬁc deposits is calculated on daily balances with half-yearly
crediting on 1 January and 1 July.
Table 7: Comparison between Co-op’s Speciﬁc Deposits Rates and FI’s Savings Rates
Period
1 Jan to 31 Mar 2016
1 Apr to 30 Jun 2016
1 July to 30 September 2016
1 October to 31 December 2016

Police Co-op’s
Speciﬁc
Deposits Rates
0.90% per annum
0.90% per annum
0.90% per annum
0.60% per annum

Rates from Financial Institution (FI)
Bank Savings
Finance Companies
Deposits*
Savings Deposits*
0.14% per annum
0.17% per annum
0.14% per annum
0.17% per annum
0.14% per annum
0.17% per annum
0.14% per annum
0.17% per annum

*Information obtained from the website of the Monetary Authority of Singapore
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Table 8: Speciﬁc Deposits Balance from FY2012 to FY2016
Financial
Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

Speciﬁc
Absolute Increase over
Deposits Balance
Preceding Year
$
$
30,472,322
4,981,768
36,064,212
5,591,890
41,594,818
5,530,606
47,657,533
6,062,715
53,176,269
5,518,736

% Increase over
Preceding Year
$
19.54%
18.35%
15.34%
14.58%
11.58%

5.4 Fixed Deposits
The Co-operative experienced an outﬂow of funds amounting to $4,368,779 in
FY2015. Total ﬁxed deposit in the Co-operative in FY2016 was $27,694,8395, a
decrease of 13.63% as compared to FY2015.
Besides the Written Direction on Investments issued by the Registry of
Co-operative Societies, which took eﬀect from 30 June 2010, the Co-operative
also has to consider its Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) and its attendant eﬀects.
The Co-operative made the following four adjustments to its ﬁxed deposit rates
in 2016 with the aim of meeting the CAR requirement:
Table 9: Change of Fixed Deposit Rates in FY2016

5

Rates (per annum) from 1 October 2015
Amount
6 months
12 months
24 months
$500 - $49,999
0.90%
1.20%
1.30%
$50,000 - $99,999
0.90%
1.20%
1.30%
$100,000 and above
0.90%
1.20%
1.30%

36 months
1.60%
1.60%
1.60%

Rates (per annum) from 11 July 2016
Amount
6 months
12 months
24 months
$500 - $49,999
0.90%
1.10%
1.20%
$50,000 - $99,999
0.90%
1.10%
1.20%
$100,000 and above
0.90%
1.10%
1.20%

36 months
1.30%
1.30%
1.30%

Total ﬁxed deposit in the Co-operative in FY2015 was $32,063,618.
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Rates (per annum) from 1 August 2016
Amount
6 months
12 months
24 months
$500 - $49,999
0.80%
0.90%
1.00%
$50,000 - $99,999
0.80%
0.90%
1.00%
$100,000 and above
0.80%
0.90%
1.00%

36 months
1.10%
1.10%
1.10%

Rates (per annum) from 1 September 2016
Amount
6 months
12 months
24 months
0.75%
$500 - $49,999
0.65%
0.85%
$50,000 - $99,999
0.65%
0.75%
0.85%
$100,000 and above
0.65%
0.75%
0.85%

36 months
0.95%
0.95%
0.95%

Rates (per annum) from 1 December 2016
Amount
6 months
12 months
24 months
$500 - $49,999
0.50%
0.60%
0.70%
$50,000 - $99,999
0.50%
0.60%
0.70%
$100,000 and above
0.50%
0.60%
0.70%

36 months
0.80%
0.80%
0.80%
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6. Personal Loans to Members
6.1 Quantum of Loan
The Registry of Co-operative Societies issued a new written direction for unsecured
loans which took eﬀect from 1 April 2012.
With eﬀect from 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2020, the following CAR and loan limits will apply:

Eﬀective Dates and Qualifying Conditions

Loan Limits on Unsecured General Loans

From 1 July 2016 to 30 June 2020

Tier A:
$50,000 or 6 months’ income**, whichever is less
$30,000 or 4 months’ income*, whichever is less

Tier A: at least 10% CAR and 15% MLA6
Tier B: at least 8% CAR and 15% MLA
Tier C: less than 8% CAR or 15% MLA

From 1 July 2020 onwards
Tier A: at least 12% CAR and 15% MLA
Tier B: at least 10% CAR and 15% MLA

Tier B:
$40,000 or 6 months’ income**, whichever is less
$20,000 or 4 months’ income*, whichever is less
Tier C:
$20,000 or 4 months’ income**, whichever is less
$10,000 or 2 months’ income*, whichever is less

Tier C: less than 10% CAR or 15% MLA
** loan to be granted has salary check-oﬀ or at least one qualiﬁed surety
* loan to be granted has no salary check-oﬀ and no qualiﬁed surety
Unsecured loan limits do not apply to the following loans as they are meant to fulﬁll
the basic needs of members:
a. Education loan to defray expenses directly attributable to a course of education,
including tuition fees and the costs of accommodation, textbooks and computer
equipment; or
b. Medical loan to defray expenses for essential medical treatment that qualiﬁes for
claims from the Medisave account, as allowed by the Ministry of Health; or
c. Renovation loan, not exceeding $30,000, to defray expenses for the renovation of
an owner-occupied property.
The Co-operative has a Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) of 9.45% as at 31 December
2016, after appropriations.
6

MLA stands for Minimum Liquid Assets – which consist of cash, deposits in savings, current and
ﬁxed deposit accounts as well as Singapore Government Securities. As at 31 December 2016, the
Co-operative has a MLA of 50%.
87th ANNUAL REPORT

--- 30 ---

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
Table 10: Number of Loan Applications from FY2012 to FY2016
Financial
Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

Number of
Applications Approved
1,981
1,872
1,776
1,473
1,849

Total Personal Loans Granted
by the Co-operative
$21,536,090
$19,641,520
$21,332,410
$18,205,810
$24,039,520

6.2 Credit Default Insurance
The Co-operative has entered into a contract with an insurance company to
provide a credit guarantee cover for loans taken out by eligible members
eﬀective from 1 February 2011. The coverage is 90% of net outstanding amount
(loans less savings) owed by the member to the Co-operative.
With this cover, members would not have to furnish guarantors to the
Co-operative unless the type of loans applied for is not covered by insurance.
This would facilitate the loan-taking process as, in the past, some members
were not able to furnish credit-worthy guarantors to secure their loans with
the Co-operative. Both parties, however, have the right to terminate the
contract by giving the other party the required notice period under the
contract.
Members continue to be insured under a group credit policy that would cover
their death and permanent disability, unless excluded by the insurance
company.
6.3 Bad Debts
The Co-operative wrote oﬀ $45,235 from 27 ex-members, as bad debts for
FY20167.

7

Bad debts of $31,868 were written oﬀ in FY2015.
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7. Investments
7.1 Restricted and Non-Restricted Investments
With eﬀect from 30th June 2010, the Co-operative’s investments were segregated
into restricted investments and non-restricted investments in accordance with the
tightened ﬁnancial requirements imposed by the Registry of Co-operative Societies.
Based on a revised Written Direction issued by the Registrar of Co-operative
Societies to credit co-operatives on 18 November 2013, restricted investments refer
to any form or type of investment other than:
(a) Bonds issued by Singapore Statutory Boards;
(b) Singapore Dollar deposits in ﬁnancial institutions licensed by the Monetary
Authority of Singapore;
(c) Singapore Government Securities; or
(d) Capital-guaranteed investment funds or products managed by ﬁnancial
institutions licensed by the Monetary Authority of Singapore, where the issuer(s)
guarantee(s) the return of 100% of the capital invested at a pre-determined date
in the future.
Shares in other co-operative societies held, and investment properties purchased
before 30th June 2010 were exempt from the Restricted Investments (RI) limit.
However, any co-operative shares and investment properties acquired on and after
30 June 2010 are subject to the RI limit.
7.2 Restricted Investment (RI) Limit
The default RI limit is 10%.
Based on the revised Written Direction dated 18 November 2013, credit
co-operatives are allowed to apply to the Registrar of Co-operative Societies for a
higher RI limit of 20% to 30% subject to conditions imposed.
The Co-operative applied for the 30% RI limit and written approval was granted to
the Co-operative on 1 August 2014 for a period of 3 years or the Co-operative’s
Annual General Meeting in 2017, whichever is earlier.
The Co-operative will be reapplying to the Registrar of Co-operative Societies for the
30% RI limit by the ﬁrst quarter of FY2017.
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7.3 Assets Allocation
On 5 June 2014, the general meeting gave approval to the Board to place investible
funds broadly based on the following asset allocation:
a.
Corporate Bonds (including variable notes)
max 70%
b.
Shares listed on SGX
max 20%
c.
Investment Properties
max 15%
d.
Joint Venture
max 10%
e.
Unit Trusts
max 5%
f.
Managed Funds
max 10%
On 9 June 2016, the general meeting approved the revised asset allocation mix as
follows:
a.
Corporate Bonds (including variable notes)
max 87.5%
b.
Securities listed on SGX
max 10%
c.
Investment Properties
nil
d.
Joint Venture
max 2.5%
e.
Unit Trusts
nil
f.
Managed Funds
nil
7.4 Percentage of Restricted and Non-Restricted Investments
As at 31 December 2016, the Co-operative has $61,831,332 in restricted investments
and $133,824,424 in non-restricted investments. Including loans, ﬁxed assets, cash
and receivables, amounting to $38,415,051, the Co-operative has total assets of
$234,070,807.
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7.5 Investment Performance of Restricted Investments
On 5 June 2014, members gave approval for the Co-operative to invest up to 30% of
its total assets in restricted investments for a period of 3 years.
The Registrar has also given approval for the 30% limit, for a 3-year period from
1 August 2014 to 31 July 2017, or the Co-operative’s Annual General Meeting in 2017,
whichever is earlier.
As at 31 December 2016, our restricted investments amounted to $61,831,332 or
27% of total assets, as follows:
Restricted
As at
As at
31 December 2016 31 December 2015
Investments
Securities listed on SGX
$ 4,513,184
$ 4,442,803
Corporate Bonds
$55,635,993
$45,267,081
(including variable notes)
Shares in Joint Venture
$ 1,067,155
$ 1,029,000
Companies (private limited)
Shares in other co-operatives
$ 615,000
$ 615,000
(invest after 30 June 2010)
Total
$61,831,332
$51,353,884
Annual Return

Income
Income
2016
2015
$ 281,427 $ 384,816
$2,067,877 $2,135,971
$ 255,850 $ 530,740
$ 30,000 $ 10,324
$2,635,154 $3,061,851
4.26%
5.96%

As reported in the Annual General Meeting on 5 June 2014, the Board hopes to
generate annual returns of between 2.5% to 4% per annum from these restricted
investments for the 3-year period.
8. Well-Being Programmes for Members
8.1 Common Good Fund
A total sum of $18,200 was disbursed in FY20168 under the Common Good Fund.
This sum included grants oﬀered to members under the following circumstances:
a)
Demise of member’s parent
$100/b)
Demise of member’s child
$200/c)
Demise of member’s spouse
$200/d)
Demise of member in active duty
$1,000/e)
Demise of member in inactive duty
$500/-

8

Common Good Fund: A total of $18,000 was disbursed in FY2015.
87th ANNUAL REPORT

--- 34 ---

BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
8.2 Scholarship Fund
The Police Co-operative contributed $13,000 to the SPF-Lee Foundation Study Award
in 20169. This study award aims to assist children of PCWF members who have
attained excellent academic achievements as well as to support children from
low-income families in their studies.
8.3 Sponsorship of Divisions' Functions
The Police Co-operative allocated a sum of $2 per member per year for units
celebrating their Dinner and Dance or other staﬀ functions. The Police Co-operative
spent $7,002 in 201610 .
8.4 Activities in FY2016
Two overnight trips (2D1N) were organised to Malacca, Malaysia on 8-9 and
15-16 July 2016 for members who retired during the period 1 January 2014 to
31 December 2015. 175 members and guests participated in the two trips.
The expenses incurred for the two trips amounted to $46,280.
9 Corporate Governance
9.1 Attendance of Directors
The Board held six meetings for the period 1 January to 31 December 2016. The
attendance of each director at every Board Meeting is as follows:
Name
Mr Christopher Ng
Mr Loy Chye Meng
Mr Tan Chia Han
Mr Loh Jee Cheong
(elected on 9 June 2016)
Mr Alvin Chong Huat Suang
Ms Evon Ng Ee Fong
Mr Balakrishnan Anbarasan
Mr Cheong Chee Ming
(stepped down on 9 June 2016)
Ms Grace Chong Hung Li
(elected on 9 June 2016)
Mr Chua Chuan Seng
(elected on 9 June 2016)
Mr Foo Kwee Pinh
(stepped down on 9 June 2016)
Mr Lee Chin Ek
(co-opted on 14 November 2016)

No of Meetings No of Meetings
Attended
Held
6
6
Chairman
5
6
Vice-Chairman
6
5
Secretary
4
4
Treasurer
Position

Asst Secretary
Asst Treasurer
Director
Director

6
6
6
2

4
5
6
2

Director

4

4

Director

4

3

Director

2

2

Director

1

1

9
Similarly, $13,000 was contributed to the SPF-Lee Foundation Study Award in FY2015.
10

In FY2015, the Co-operative spent an amount of $7,280 for sponsorship of divisions’ functions.
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Name

Position

Mr Lim Chee Pheng
(stepped down on 9 June 2016)
Mr Lim Chin Tiak
Mr Lim Eng Chye
Mr Alvin Moh Tser Loong
Mr Samad Bin Halil
Mr Teo Chun Ching
(resigned on 1 November 2016)
Mr Teo Hoon San

Director

No of Meetings No of Meetings
Held
Attended
2
2

Treasurer/Director
Director
Director
Director
Director

6
6
6
6
5

5
5
6
5
4

Director

6

5

9.2 Internal Audit
The objective of the internal audit is to provide independent and reasonable
assurance to the Audit Committee and Management that the Co-operative’s
controls and governance processes are adequate and eﬀective. The internal
auditors report directly to the Audit Committee (AC).
The Audit Committee appointed two members namely Mr Chia Tong Seng and
Mr Ching Yeow Boon as internal auditors of the Co-operative for the period 1 January
to 31 December 2016.
The AC had reviewed with the two internal auditors their audit plans, evaluation of
the system of internal controls, audit ﬁndings and management’s responses to
those ﬁndings. The audits covered, inter alia, eﬀectiveness of material internal
controls, including ﬁnancial, operational and compliance controls of the
Co-operative.
9.3 Audit Committee
The Co-operative formed its ﬁrst Audit Committee (AC) on 26 October 2004. With
eﬀect from FY2009, the Audit Committee’s terms of reference were expanded to
include the following:
• Reviewing and evaluating ﬁnancial and operating results and accounting policies;
• Reviewing audit plans of external auditors and their audit report;
• Reviewing audit plans of internal auditors and their audit report;
• Reviewing the Co-operative’s ﬁnancial results before submission to the Board for
approval;
• Considering the appointment/re-appointment of external auditors;
• Considering the appointment/re-appointment of internal auditors;
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• Reviewing interested person transactions; and
• Executing other functions required by law or the Code.
During FY2016, the AC’s activities included the following:
• Performed independent review of Police Co-operative’s full year ﬁnancial result
before submitting to the Board. In conducting its review of the audited ﬁnancial
statements of Police Co-operative, the AC had discussed with Management and
the external auditors the accounting principles that were applied. Based on the
review and discussion with Management and the external auditors, the AC is of the
view that the ﬁnancial statements are fairly represented and conform to generally
accepted accounting principles in all material aspects.
• The AC reviewed and approved the audit plan and scope of the external auditors
on the audit of the full year ﬁnancial results.
• The AC reviewed the nature and extent of the non-audit services provided to
Police Co-operative by the external auditors for the ﬁnancial year and was satisﬁed
that the nature and extent of such services would not prejudice the independence
and objectivity of the external auditors.
The aggregate amount of audit fees paid and payable by the Group to the external
auditors for FY2016 was $25,400 of which audit fees amounted to $24,100 and
non-audit fees amounted to $1,300.
The non-audit fees paid/payable to the external auditors were related to general
tax compliance.
• The AC reviewed and approved the terms of engagement for the two internal
auditors (member).
• The AC reviewed and approved the internal audit plan and scope of the internal
auditors’ work. It reviewed the ﬁndings during the year and Management’s responses
thereto and it satisﬁed itself as to the adequacy of the internal audit function.
In FY2016, the AC held four meetings.
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Name

Position

Mr Cheong Chee Ming
(stepped down on 9 June 2016)
Mr Alvin Moh
(appointed on 9 June 2016)
Mr Chua Chuan Seng
Mr Samad Bin Halil

Chairman

No of Meetings No of Meetings
Attended
Held
1
1

Chairman

3

3

Member
Member

4
4

4
3

9.4 Special Audit
The Registry of Co-operative Societies commissioned a special audit of the
Co-operative for the audit period of 1 January 2015 to 31 December 2015. Deloitte &
Touche Enterprise Risk Services Pte Ltd was appointed the Special Auditor of the
Co-operative by the Registry. The following scope of work was carried out by the
Special Auditor:
i. Compliance with relevant laws
(Co-operative Societies Act, subsidiary legislation and written directions)
ii. Governance
a) Committee of Management (COM)
b) Audit Committee
c) Conﬂict of Interest
d) Related Party Transaction
e) Honoraria, Allowance, Salary and Beneﬁts
f) Internal Controls
g) Internal Audit
h) Accountability and Disclosure
iii. Internal Controls
a) Membership
b) Members’ Deposits
c) Loans to members, related parties and aﬃliated entities
d) COM/board/key employee matters
e) Purchasing/Procurement
f) Receipts and Payments
g) Human resource and payroll
h) Borrowings
i) IT systems
j) Investments
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In its overall assessment of the Co-operative, Deloitte & Touche Enterprise Risk
Services Pte Ltd awarded a Good rating to the Co-operative on its report dated
30 May 2016. It was the highest rating among four categories namely Good,
Satisfactory, Requires Improvement and Unsatisfactory.
The following is a description of a Good rating:
a) The risk management and internal control system is eﬀectively designed and
operating as intended.
b) Controls evaluated are adequate and eﬀective to provide reasonable assurance
that risks are being managed and objectives should be met.
c) There exists a comprehensive system of controls that protects against losses from
transactional, operational/IT risks that ensures accurate ﬁnancial reporting and
compliance with regulatory requirements.
d) The level of adherence to established systems, controls and procedures is very
high and staﬀ members are fully aware of their responsibilities with regard
to controls.
9.5 Code of Ethics
Committed to maintaining the highest standards of ethical conduct, the
Co-operative had drawn up a Code of Ethics which was approved by the Board on
30 August 2005. The Code applies to each employee of the Co-operative and its
aﬃliates.
The Code also serves to guide the Co-operative’s Board of Directors in all dealings
and transactions with third persons, direction and supervision of the business and
property of the Co-operative, overseeing its ﬁnancial reporting process and
monitoring the integrity of the Co-operative’s ﬁnancial statements.
The Registry of Co-operative Societies has issued a revised Code of Governance for
Credit Co-operatives on 17 October 2016. The Board will be reviewing the Code of
Ethics to ensure that it is in compliance with the revised Code of Governance.
9.6 Director’s Appointment Declaration
With eﬀect from 2009, all directors are required to sign the Director’s Appointment
Declaration as required under Section 64 of the Act. This section deals with
disclosure of interests in transactions, property, oﬃce, etc, which the directors
might have with the Co-operative so as to prevent any conﬂict of interests.
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10 The Year Ahead
In 2010, the Registry of Co-operative Societies issued written directions on investment
restrictions and capital adequacy ratios which greatly impacted the revenue which the
Co-operative derived from its investment income stream.
On 1 April 2012, the Written Direction (WD) on Unsecured Loans came into eﬀect. Under
this WD, limits are placed on the maximum quantum of loan which the Co-operative can
lend to an individual member. Prior to this WD, loan policy and quantum were solely under
the purview of the Board.
On 18 November 2013, the Registrar issued a revised Written Direction that would
supersede the Written Direction on Investment Restrictions issued in 2010. The revised
Written Direction allows credit co-operatives to apply to the Registrar for a higher limit of
up to 20% or 30% for their restricted investments instead of the default 10%. Approval was
given by the Registrar for the Co-operative to invest up to 30% for its restricted investments
on 1 August 2014 for a period of 3 years, which will expire in this coming Annual General
Meeting. The Co-operative is seeking the approval of Registrar and members to renew the
approval for another 3 years.
The Co-operative also has to contend with the requirements pertaining to the Capital
Adequacy Ratio (CAR). The Written Directions issued by the Registry of Co-operative
Societies since 2010 have aﬀected the Co-operative’s ability to deploy funds eﬀectively and
eﬃciently, with resultant negative impact on the net surplus of the Co-operative.
The Board will monitor the inﬂow of funds of members to ensure that there would not be
too great an upsurge in total assets.
With the Common Reporting Standards imposed on the Co-operative by the Inland
Revenue of Authority, the Co-operative will focus primarily on Singapore Citizens or
Permanent Residents of Singapore to recruit as new members. With a smaller market of
potential members, the number of new members joining the Co-operative is expected to
be reduced.
The Board is aiming for ﬁnancial sustainability in its current business model with members
being reasonably compensated for their funds. It will also put aside reserves for future
years in order to enhance the ﬁnancial strength of the Co-operative to withstand a VUCA11
environment. To operate in such an environment, the continued support from members is
of paramount importance.
Barring unforeseen circumstances, the Board is conﬁdent that the Co-operative will deliver
a reasonable set of results for the year.
11

VUCA - Volatility, Uncertainty, Complexity, and Ambiguity
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS’ REPORT
11 Appreciation
The Directors of the Board would like to express their appreciation to the staﬀ for their
dedication and commitment to work and to members for their continued support and
co-operation. The Directors would also like to express their appreciation to the following
persons for their advice and guidance:
(a) The President, Commissioner of Police, Mr Hoong Wee Teck;
(b) 1st Vice-President, Mr Tan Hung Hooi and Mr Teo Chun Ching;
(c) 2nd Vice-President, Ms Winnie Tan; and
(d) The Registrar of Co-operative Societies.
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors,

Tan Chia Han
Secretary
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DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

The directors present their report to the members together with the audited
consolidated ﬁnancial statements of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society
Limited (the “Society”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and the statement of
ﬁnancial position of the Society for the year ended 31 December 2016.
~ Opinion of the directors
In the opinion of the directors, ﬁnancial statements of the Group and Society and
notes comprising a summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the ﬁnancial
position of the Group and Society as at 31 December 2016, and the ﬁnancial
performance of the Group and Society, changes in equity and cash ﬂows of the
Group for the ﬁnancial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are
reasonable grounds to believe that the Group and Society will be able to pay its
debts when they fall due.
The Board of Directors approved and authorised these ﬁnancial statements for
issue.
~ Directors
The directors of the Society in oﬃce for ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016 are
as follows:
Chairman
Mr Ng Christopher
Vice-Chairman
Mr Loy Chye Meng
Secretary
Mr Tan Chia Han
Treasurer
Mr Lim Chin Tiak (up to 8 June 2016)
Mr Loh Jee Cheong (new - elected on 9 June 2016)
Asst Secretary
Mr Chong Huat Suang Alvin
Asst Treasurer
Ms Ng Ee Fong Evon
Board Members
Mr Balakrishnan Anbarasan
Mr Cheong Chee Ming (stepped down on 9 June 2016)
Ms Chong Hung Li Grace (new - elected on 9 June 2016)
Mr Chua Chuan Seng (new - elected on 9 June 2016)
Mr Lee Chin Ek (co-opted on 14 November 2016)
Mr Lim Chee Pheng (stepped down on 9 June 2016)
Mr Lim Eng Chye
Mr Lim Chin Tiak (from 9 June 2016)
Mr Moh Tser Loong Alvin
Mr Samad Bin Halil
Mr Teo Chun Ching (resigned on 1 November 2016)
Mr Teo Hoon San
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DIRECTORS' STATEMENT

For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

~ Arrangements to enable directors to acquire beneﬁts by means of the
acquisition of shares and debentures
Neither at the end of the ﬁnancial year nor at any time during the ﬁnancial year did
there subsist any arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the
Society to acquire beneﬁts by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Society or related corporations.
~ Directors' interests in shares or debentures
According to the register of members' shareholdings kept by the Society, none of
the directors of the Society holding oﬃce at the end of ﬁnancial year had held more
than 20% interest in shares or debentures of the Society and its related corporations
except as disclosed in the ﬁnancial statements.
~ Share Options
During the ﬁnancial year, there were:
• no share options granted by the Society or its subsidiaries to any person to take
up unissued shares in the Society and its subsidiaries; and
• no shares issued by virtue of the exercise of options to take up unissued shares
of the Society and its subsidiaries.
At the end of the ﬁnancial year, there were no unissued shares of the Society or its
subsidiaries under options.
~ Independent auditor
The independent auditor, P G Wee Partnership LLP, has expressed their willingness
to accept re-appointment.
On Behalf of the Board of Directors,

Ng Christopher
Chairman

Tan Chia Han
Secretary
10 April 2017
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Loh Jee Cheong
Treasurer

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited

~ Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying ﬁnancial statements of The Singapore Police
Co-operative Society Limited (the “Society”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
comprise the consolidated statement of ﬁnancial position of the Group and the statement of ﬁnancial position of the Society as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash ﬂows of the Group for the year then ended, and notes
to the ﬁnancial statements, including a summary of signiﬁcant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Group and
statement of ﬁnancial position of the Society are properly drawn up in accordance with
the provisions of the Singapore Co-Operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 (“the Act”) and
Financial Reporting Standards in Singapore (FRSs) so as to give a true and fair view of
the consolidated ﬁnancial position of the Group and the ﬁnancial position of the Society
as at 31 December 2016 and of the consolidated ﬁnancial performance, consolidated
changes in equity and consolidated cash ﬂows of the Group for the year ended on that
date.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (SSAs).
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the Accounting and Corporate Regulatory
Authority (ACRA) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants and
Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the ﬁnancial statements in Singapore, and we have fulﬁlled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the ACRA
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suﬃcient and appropriate
to provide a basis of our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited

Other Information
Management is responsible for other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not include the ﬁnancial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.
Our opinion on the ﬁnancial statements does not cover the other information and we
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the ﬁnancial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the ﬁnancial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report the fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
~ Responsibilities of Management and Directors for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of ﬁnancial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with the provisions of the Act and FRSs, and for devising and
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls suﬃcient to provide a reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or
disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair ﬁnancial statements and to
maintain accountability of assets.
In preparing the ﬁnancial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management
either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
The directors' responsibilities include overseeing the Group's ﬁnancial reporting
process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited
Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the ﬁnancial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exist. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to inﬂuence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these ﬁnancial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the ﬁnancial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is suﬃcient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design
audit procedure that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing a opinion on the eﬀectiveness of the Group's internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosure made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast signiﬁcant doubt on the Group's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in
the ﬁnancial statements or, if such disclosure are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusion are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease continue as
a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the ﬁnancial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the ﬁnancial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Members of The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited
• Obtain suﬃcient appropriate audit evidence regarding the ﬁnancial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated ﬁnancial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and signiﬁcant audit ﬁndings, including any signiﬁcant
deﬁciencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.
Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the
Society and by those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are
the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
During the course of our audit, nothing has come to our attention to cause us to believe
that the receipts, expenditure and investments of monies and acquisition and disposal
of assets made by the Society during the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016 have
not been made in accordance with the By-laws of the Society and the provisions
of the Act.

P G Wee Partnership LLP
Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

10 April 2017
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016
Group
Note
Income
Administrative levy
Bad debts recovery
Commission received
Dividend income (gross) - unquoted
- quoted
Entrance fees
Gain on disposal of investments - shares
Gain on disposal of investments - bonds
Grant income
Interest on cash and cash equivalents
Interest on held-to-maturity investments
Interest on loans to members
Interest on loans to a subsidiary
Recovery of investment loss
Rental income and service charges
Revenue
4
Reversal of impairment loss on
investment
Reversal of provision expenses
Other income
Less:
Expenditure
Administrative and general expenses
Depreciation and amortisation
5
Donation
Employee beneﬁts expenses
6
Finance cost
7
Impairment loss on investment
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Membership promotion and related
expenses
Purchase of materials and consumables
Property maintenance and related
expenses

2016
SGD

2015
SGD

213,741
20,118
289,773
394,668
263,127
10,266
18,300
17,358
123,186
1,469,906
2,833,974
3,464,050
33,488
1,305,750
8,142,139

170,638
22,024
353,298
667,215
324,816
9,161
60,000
7,150
83,021
983,037
2,614,439
3,166,083
55,279
1,255,736
9,489,570

197,952
950,000
30,861
24,540
18,828,657 20,236,007
1,584,396
383,330
1,000
1,627,119
2,417,341
1,350,888
-

1,737,429
369,727
101,000
1,570,604
1,946,653
637,018
326

129,085
7,159,509

350,536
8,530,352

317,431
452,652
14,970,099 15,696,297
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Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
213,741
170,638
20,118
22,024
289,773
353,298
458,618
718,274
263,127
324,816
10,266
9,161
18,300
60,000
17,358
7,150
99,168
65,847
1,467,992
981,123
2,803,943 2,584,470
3,464,050 3,166,083
24,742
25,807
33,488
55,279
1,256,592 1,206,591
385,000
197,952 950,000
21,511
16,830
11,045,739 10,717,391
1,337,677 1,468,157
337,213
349,231
100,000
1,176,930 1,105,522
2,417,341 1,946,653
1,350,888
637,018
129,085
-

350,536
-

295,571
439,189
7,044,705 6,396,306

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

Group
Society
2016
2015
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
3,858,558 4,539,710 4,001,034 4,321,085
7 (2,759,184) (2,253,685) (2,759,184) (2,253,685)

Note
Surplus for the year
Finance cost
Surplus Before Income Tax and
Contributions
Income Tax Beneﬁt (Expenses)
Contribution to Central Co-operative
Fund
Surplus After Income Tax and
Contributions
Other Comprehensive income
Item that may be reclassiﬁed
subsequently to proﬁt or loss
Net (loss) gain on fair value changes
of available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Total Comprehensive Income
Attributable to:
Owners of the Society
Non-Controlling Interests
Surplus After Income Tax and
Contributions
Attributable to:
Owners of the Society
Non-Controlling Interests
Total Comprehensive Income

8

1,099,374
(2,773)

2,286,025
(3,096)

1,241,850 2,067,400
-

(732,484)

(787,372)

(721,547)

(777,217)

364,117

1,495,557

520,303

1,290,183

(28,885)
(28,885)
335,232

(418,898)
(418,898)
1,076,659

(28,885) (418,898)
(28,885) (418,898)
491,418
871,285

363,597
520

1,493,561
1,996

520,303
-

1,290,183
-

364,117

1,495,557

520,303

1,290,183

334,712
520
335,232

1,074,663
1,996
1,076,659

491,418
491,418

871,285
871,285

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2016

Note
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, Plant and Equipment
Intangible Assets
Investment Properties
Investment Securities
Investment In Subsidiaries
Loan To Subsidiary
Loan To Members
Total Non-Current Assets
Current Assets
Investment Securities
Trade and Other Receivables
Loan To Subsidiary
Loan To Members
Other Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Total Current Assets
Total Assets
Accumulated Fund And
Liabilities
Funds
General Reserve Fund
Common Good Fund
Scholarship Fund
Fair Value Reserve
Accumulated Fund
Attributable to Owners of the
Society
Non-Controlling Interest
Total Funds

9
10
11
12
13
14
15

12
16
14
15
17
18

19
20
21

Group
2015
SGD

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD

1,502,382 1,549,464
12,150
17,775
9,595,200 9,864,381
59,984,121 66,575,672
20,200,398 18,169,854
91,294,251 96,177,146

1,119,557 1,124,828
12,150
17,775
9,595,200 9,864,381
59,334,121 65,925,672
1,717,155 1,294,000
206,490
232,808
20,200,398 18,169,854
92,185,071 96,629,318

2016
SGD

25,009,280 22,487,735 25,009,280
3,000,172 3,053,736
1,962,338
466,318
12,097,401
11,156,134
12,097,401
723,930
500,746
413,324
103,281,439 90,016,177 101,937,075
144,112,222 127,214,528 141,885,736
235,406,473 223,391,674 234,070,807

16,200,142
620,634
13,000
1,845,071
6,918,531

22,487,735
1,923,495
525,132
11,156,134
20,767
89,172,959
125,286,222
221,915,540

16,200,142
270,247
13,000
1,873,956
6,610,010

16,200,142 16,200,142
615,634
256,272
13,000
13,000
1,845,071 1,873,956
5,915,513 5,458,210

25,597,378 24,967,355
3,120
38,769
25,600,498 25,006,124

24,589,360 23,801,580
24,589,360 23,801,580
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2016

Group
2015
SGD

Society
2015
2016
SGD
SGD

22
23

8,831,037
8,527,830
37,755,151 33,836,848

8,831,037
8,527,830
37,755,151 33,836,848

24
25
26
28

43,473,532 29,578,033
2,183,832 2,083,284
73,617,531 71,485,906
2,000
2,000

Note
Non-Current Liabilities
Term Deposits
Members' Speciﬁc Deposits
Subscription-To-Savings
Scheme
Share Capital
Subscription Capital
Other Liabilities
Interest and Premium
Received In Advance
Total Non-Current Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Term Deposits
Members' Speciﬁc Deposits
Subscription-To-Savings
Scheme
Share Capital
Subscription Capital
Interest and Premium
Received In Advance
Trade and Other Payables
Other Liabilitiesv
Ex-Member's Accounts
Provision
Income Tax Payables
Central Co-Operative Fund
Proposed Honorarium
Total Current Liabilities
Total Liabilities
Total Accumulated Fund
And Liabilities

2016
SGD

43,473,532
2,183,832
73,617,531
-

29,578,033
2,083,284
71,485,906
-

30,759
30,759
165,559,876 145,847,867 165,557,876 145,845,867
22
23

19,222,557
15,421,118

23,273,072
13,820,685

19,222,557
15,421,118

23,273,072
13,820,685

24
25
26

397,330
44,568
5,613,445

5,528,725
42,516
5,498,380

397,330
44,568
5,613,445

5,528,725
42,516
5,498,380

27
28
29
30
31

339,406
80,419
339,406
80,419
1,118,926
1,295,770
1,368,536
1,596,936
584,502
250,787
591,327
257,612
23,208
13,458
23,208
13,458
1,137,572
862,572
1,137,572
862,572
3,000
3,600
901,101
721,547
911,256
732,484
44,246,099 52,537,683 43,923,571 52,268,093
209,805,975 198,385,550 209,481,447 198,113,960
235,406,473 223,391,674 234,070,807 221,915,540

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements
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(8,975)

50,000

3,120
6,918,531

1,996
(1,265)
38,769

1,493,561
(524,758)
6,610,010

- (418,898)
-

- (48,391)
13,000
13,000 1,873,956

60,149
270,247

-

- 500,000
24,967,355 16,200,142

1,074,663
-

5,632,610
(5)
8,602
48,391
-

38,034
4

-

8,975

(63,000)

13,000 2,292,854
(13,000)
-

-

13,000 1,845,071

-

-

-

13,0000

23,919,562 15,700,142 232,565
- (22,467)
(35,472)
8,602

25,597,378 16,200,142 620,634

-

-

(35,104)

(1,051)
-

-

-

-

(1,051)

-

520
(1,065)
363,597
-

-

- (28,885)
-

-

-

334,712
-

38,769
-

6,610,010
-

-

13,000 1,873,956
(13,000)

24,967,355 16,200,142 270,247
- 309,362
296,362

NonFair Statutory Accumulated
General Common Scholarship
Fund Controlling
Value Reserve
Fund
Good
Reserve
Interests
Fund
Reserve
Fund
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these ﬁnancial statements

Group
23,957,596
Balance as at 1 January 2015
(35,472)
Net movement
8,606
Proposed honorarium
Total comprehensive income
1,076,659
for the year
32
(1,265)
Dividends paid
Transfer from
accumulated fund
25,006,124
Balance as at 31 December 2015

Group
25,006,124
Balance as at 1 January 2016
296,362
Net movement
Total comprehensive income
335,232
for the year
32
(1,065)
Dividends paid
Acquisition of Non-Controlling
(36,155)
Interest Without a Change in
Control
Transfer from
accumulated fund
Transfer to
accumulated fund
Balance as at
25,600,498
31 December 2016

Note Total Fund Attributable
to Owners of
the Society
SGD
SGD

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

Group
Note
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Surplus Before Income Tax and Contributions
Adjustments for
Amortisation
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties
Dividends income
Gain on disposal of ﬁnancial assets
Loss on disposal of plant and equipment
Reversal of provision expenses
Provision for impairment loss on investment
Provision expenses
Interest expenses
Interest income
Operating Cash Flows Before Changes in Working Capital
Changes in Working Capital
Loans to members
Trade and other receivables
Other assets
Amounts owing to members
Trade and other payables
Ex-member's accounts
Payment of provision expenses
Other liabilities
Cash Flows From (Used In) Operations
Interest paid
Interest received
Payment of central co-operative fund
Income taxes paid
Net Cash Flows From (Used In) Operating Activities
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2016
SGD

2015
SGD

1,099,374

2,286,025

10,825
5,625
89,721
108,524
269,181
269,181
(992,031)
(657,795)
(67,150)
(35,658)
326
(197,952) (950,000)
637,018
1,350,888
635,000
635,000
5,176,525 4,200,338
(7,767,930) (6,763,559)
(14,218) (644,306)
566,445
(2,971,811)
2,551,564
53,564
(108,840)
(223,184)
12,278,408 16,031,726
(335,768)
(61,346)
16,353
(9,750)
(72,500)
(712,048)
376,323
(333,715)
8,005,900 18,380,997
(5,176,525) (4,200,338)
3,166,083
3,464,050
(764,378)
(911,256)
(10,096)
(2,173)
5,379,996 16,572,268

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

Group
Note
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Interest received
Dividends received
Purchase of plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Net (purchase) proceeds from sale/maturity of investments
Net Cash Flows From (Used In) Investing Activities
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Payment of common good fund
Payment of scholarship fund
Acquisition of non-controlling interest without a change
in control
Net Cash Flows From (Used In) Financing Activities
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Statement of Cash Flows,
Beginning Balance
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Statement of Cash Flows,
Ending Balance
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2016
SGD

2015
SGD

4,303,880
657,795
(61,442)
2,725,891
7,626,124

3,597,476
992,031
(55,201)
(4,500)
(503,953)
4,025,853

(1,065)
309,362
(13,000)

(1,265)
(22,472)
(13,000)

(36,155)
259,142

(36,737)

13,265,262 20,561,384
90,016,177 69,454,793
18

103,281,439

90,016,177

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying ﬁnancial statements.
1. General Information
The Singapore Police Co-operative Society Limited (the “Society”) is incorporated
in Singapore. The Society's registered oﬃce is located at 250 Sims Avenue # 04-01
SPCS Building Singapore 387513. The Society is situated in Singapore.
The Board of Directors approved and authorised these ﬁnancial statements for
issue.
The principal activities of the Society, which are governed by the Co-operative
Societies Act, Chapter 62 are to promote, in accordance with co-operative
principles, co-operation and self-help, to encourage thrift, to receive subscriptions
and deposits from members and to assist members by enabling them to take loans
on reasonable terms, and to undertake any co-operative venture or project subject
to the approval of the Registrar of Co-operative Societies.
The principal activities of the subsidiary are stated in note 13.
2. Signiﬁcant Accounting Policies
~ Basis of Accounting
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements of the Group and the statement of ﬁnancial
position of the Society have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the
Singapore Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62 and Singapore Financial
Reporting Standards (“FRS”).
The ﬁnancial statements expressed in Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) are prepared in
accordance with the historical cost convention except as disclosed, where
appropriate, in the accounting policies below.
The preparation of ﬁnancial statements in conformity with FRS requires the use of
estimates and assumptions that aﬀect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
ﬁnancial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the ﬁnancial year. Although these estimates are based on management's best
knowledge of current events and actions, actual results may ultimately diﬀer from
those estimates.
87th ANNUAL REPORT

--- 55 ---

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous ﬁnancial
year except in the current ﬁnancial year, the Group has adopted all the new and
revised standards and interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are eﬀective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The adoption of these standards and
interpretations does not have any eﬀect on the ﬁnancial statements.
~ Functional and Presentation Currency
Items included in the ﬁnancial statements are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The ﬁnancial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), which
is the Group's functional and presentation currency.
All ﬁnancial information presented are denominated in Singapore Dollar unless
otherwise stated.
~ Revenue Recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivables for
rendering of services, net of goods and services taxes, rebates and discounts and after
eliminating sales within the Group.
Revenue is recognised as follows:
(a) Service Income
Revenue from rendering services is recognised over the period in which the services
are rendered, by reference to completion of the speciﬁc transaction assessed on the
basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be
performed.
(b) Interest Income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the eﬀective interest
rate method.
(c) Rental Income
Rental income is recognised as monthly rental accrues in accordance with the terms
and conditions of the rental agreements.
(d) Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
(e) Sale of Investments
Revenue from sale of investments is recognised upon transfer of ownership rights, net
of brokerage, clearing and trading fees incurred.
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~ Finance Costs
Interest expenses and similar charges are expensed in the income statement in the
ﬁnancial year in which they are incurred. Interest expense is recognised on a
time-proportion basis in the income statement using the eﬀective interest method.
~ Retirement Beneﬁt Costs
Contributions to deﬁned contribution retirement beneﬁt plans are recorded as an
expense as they fall due. Contributions made to government managed retirement
beneﬁt plan such as the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) which speciﬁes the
employer’s obligations are dealt with as deﬁned contribution retirement beneﬁt plans.
~ Employee Leave Entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue
to the employees. The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered
by employees up to the end of the reporting year.
~ Operating Leases
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in investment properties and
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Rental income
(net of any incentives given to lessee) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.
~ Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements comprise the ﬁnancial statements of the
Society and its subsidiaries as at the end of the reporting period. The ﬁnancial
statements of the subsidiaries used in the preparation of the consolidated ﬁnancial
statements are prepared for the same reporting date as the Society. Consistent
accounting policies are applied for like transactions and events in similar
circumstances.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.
Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that
results in a deﬁcit balance.
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A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction. If the group loses control over a subsidiary,
it:
• De-recognises the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary at
their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost;
• De-recognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest;
• De-recognises the cumulative translation diﬀerences recorded in equity;
• Recognises the fair value of the consideration received;
• Recognises the fair value of any investment retained;
• Recognises any surplus or deﬁcit in proﬁt or loss;
• Re-classiﬁes the group's share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income to proﬁt or loss or retained earnings, as appropriate.
~ Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method.
Identiﬁable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which the costs are incurred and
the services are received.
When the group acquires a business, it assesses the ﬁnancial assets and liabilities
assumed for appropriate classiﬁcation and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer will be recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, will be
recognised in accordance with FRS 39 either in proﬁt or loss or as a change to
other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classiﬁed as
equity, it is not to be remeasured until it is ﬁnally settled within equity.
In business combinations achieved in stages, previously held equity interests in the
acquiree are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date and any
corresponding gain or loss is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
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The group elects for each individual business combination, whether
non-controlling interest in the acquiree (if any) is recognised on the acquisition date
at fair value, or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of the
acquiree's identiﬁable net assets.
Any excess of the sum of the fair value of the consideration transferred in the
business combination, the amount of non-controlling interest in the acquiree
(if any), and the fair value of the group's previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any), over the net fair value of the acquiree's identiﬁable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. In instances where the latter amount exceeds the
former, the excess is recognised as gain on bargain purchase in proﬁt or loss on the
acquisition date.
Business combination does not apply to the formation of a joint venture, the
acquisition of an asset or a group of assets that does not constitute a business and
a combination of entities or businesses under common control.
~ Transactions with Non-Controlling Interests
Non-controlling interest represents the equity in subsidiaries not attributable,
directly or indirectly, to owners of the parent (“Society”), and are presented
separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of ﬁnancial position, separately from equity
attributable to owners of the parent (“Society”).
Changes in the Society owners' ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances,
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reﬂect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any diﬀerence
between the amount by which the non-controlling interest is adjusted and the fair
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and attributed to owners of the parent (“Society”).
~ Investment in Subsidiaries
Investment in subsidiaries are stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses in
the Society's statement of ﬁnancial position. On disposal of investment in
subsidiaries, the diﬀerence between net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the investment is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
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~ Income Tax Beneﬁt (Expense)
(a) Current Tax
Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at
the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year.
(b) Deferred Tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary
diﬀerences at the end of the reporting year between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for ﬁnancial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
diﬀerences, carry-forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable proﬁt will be available against which the
deductible temporary diﬀerences, and the carry-forward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred tax asset is reviewed at end of each reporting
year and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that suﬃcient taxable
proﬁt will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at end of each reporting year
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable
proﬁt will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting year.
The Society is a registered co-operative society under the Singapore Co-operative
Societies Act, Chapter 62 and its income is exempted from income tax under
Section 13(1)(f)(ii) of the Income Tax Act, Chapter 134.
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(c) Sales Tax
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of sales tax
except:
• where the sales tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable
from the taxation authority, in which case the sales tax is recognised as part of the
cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and
• Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of sales tax included.
The net amount of sales tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority
is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of ﬁnancial position.
~ Intangible Assets
Intangible assets represent the Society's computer software that is not an integral
part of a computer-controlled machine. The intangible assets are initially capitalised
at cost which includes the purchase price (net of any discounts and rebates) and
other directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its intended use. Direct
expenditure which enhances or extends the performance of the intangible assets
beyond its speciﬁcations and which can be reliably measured, is added to the
original cost of the intangible assets. Costs associated with maintaining the
intangible assets are recognised as an expense when incurred. Following initial
recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses.
The useful life of the intangible assets is assessed to be ﬁnite. Amortisation is
computed using the straight-line method over ﬁve years. It is assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible assets may be
impaired. The amortisation period and amortisation method are reviewed at least
at end of each reporting year. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured as the diﬀerence between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in statement of
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised.
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~ Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write oﬀ the cost of the
assets over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives have been taken
as follows:
Freehold property
Leasehold property
Computer hardware and software
Furniture and ﬁttings
Oﬃce equipment
Renovation

-

50 years
50 years
2 to 5 years
5 years
5 years
5 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted as appropriate, at end of each reporting year.
Fully depreciated assets are retained in the accounts until they are no longer in use.
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the diﬀerence between
the net disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
~ Investment Properties
Investment properties are held for long-term rental yields and are not occupied by
the Society. Investment properties are initially stated at cost and subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line method to write oﬀ the cost of the
properties over their estimated useful lives of 50 years.
The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted as appropriate, at end of each reporting year.
On disposal of an investment property, the diﬀerence between the net disposal
proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to proﬁt or loss.
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~ Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The Society assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an
asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when an annual impairment
assessment for an asset is required, the Society makes an estimate of the asset's
recoverable amount.
An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inﬂows that are largely independent of
those from other assets. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash ﬂows
expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their present value. Where
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recovered amount, the asset is written
down to its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses are recognised in the proﬁt or loss.
An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have
decreased. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's recoverable amount since
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case, the carrying amount of
the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase cannot exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in the proﬁt
or loss.
~ Investments in Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the Society becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the ﬁnancial instrument.
When ﬁnancial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in
the case of a ﬁnancial asset not at fair value through proﬁt or loss, directly
attributable transaction costs.
A ﬁnancial asset is derecognised where the contractual right to receive cash ﬂows
from the asset has expired. On derecognition of a ﬁnancial asset in entirety, the
diﬀerence between the carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive
income is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
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All regular way purchase and sales of ﬁnancial assets are recognised or derecognised
on the trade date i.e. the date that the Society commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of ﬁnancial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace concerned.
The ﬁnancial assets of the Society that are within the scope of FRS 39 are classiﬁed as
follows:
Held-to-maturity Investments
Non-derivative ﬁnancial assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments and ﬁxed
maturities are classiﬁed as held-to-maturity when the Society has the positive
intention and ability to hold the assets to maturity. Investments intended to be held
for an undeﬁned period are not included in this classiﬁcation. Other long-term
investments that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the eﬀective interest method. This
cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus
or minus the cumulative amortisation using the eﬀective interest method of any
diﬀerence between the initially recognised amount and the maturity amount and
minus any reduction for impairment or uncollectibility. This calculation includes all
fees and points paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral
part of the eﬀective interest rate method, transaction costs and all other premiums
and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are
recognised in the proﬁt or loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired,
as well as through the amortisation process.
Available-For-Sale Financial Assets
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets are ﬁnancial assets that are not classiﬁed in any of
the other categories. After initial recognition, available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets are
measured at fair value. Any gains or losses from changes in fair value of the ﬁnancial
asset are recognised in other comprehensive income, except that impairment losses,
foreign exchange gains and losses and interest calculated using the eﬀective interest
rate method are recognised in proﬁt or loss. The cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in proﬁt or loss when the
ﬁnancial asset is derecognised.
Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less
impairment loss.
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Loans and Receivables
Financial assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market are classiﬁed as loans and receivables. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the eﬀective interest rate
method. Gains and losses are recognised in proﬁt or loss when the loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation
process.
~ Impairment of Financial Assets
The Society assesses at end of each reporting year whether there is any objective
evidence that a ﬁnancial asset is impaired.
Assets Carried at Amortised Cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on ﬁnancial assets carried at
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
diﬀerence between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash ﬂows discounted at the ﬁnancial asset's original eﬀective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
The amount of the loss is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount of impaired ﬁnancial
assets is reduced directly or if an amount was charged to the allowance account, the
amounts charged to the allowance account are written oﬀ against the carrying value
of the ﬁnancial asset.
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on ﬁnancial
assets has been incurred, the Society considers factors such as the probability of
insolvency or signiﬁcant ﬁnancial diﬃculties of the debtor or signiﬁcant delay in
payments.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.
The amount of reversal is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
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Available-For-Sale Financial Assets
Signiﬁcant or prolonged decline in fair value below cost, signiﬁcant ﬁnancial
diﬃculties of the issuer or obligor, and the disappearance of an active trading market
are considerations to determine whether there is objective evidence that investment
securities classiﬁed as available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets are impaired.
If an available-for-sale ﬁnancial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the
diﬀerence between its cost (net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in proﬁt or loss, is
transferred from other comprehensive income to proﬁt or loss. Reversals of
impairment losses in respect of equity instruments are recognised in proﬁt or loss;
increase in their value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income. Reversal of impairment losses on debt instruments are
recognised in proﬁt or loss if the increase in fair value of the debt instrument can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.
Capitalisation of borrowing costs shall commence when activities necessary to
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in progress and the expenditures and
borrowing costs are being incurred. Borrowing costs are capitalised until the assets
are ready for their intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the asset exceeds
its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.
~ Fund Accounting
In order to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions placed on the use of
resources available to the Society, the ﬁnancial statements of the Society are
maintained substantially in accordance with the principles of “fund accounting”
whereby the resources for various purposes are classiﬁed for accounting and
reporting purposes into speciﬁc funds that are in accordance with activities or
objectives speciﬁed.
~ Cash and Cash Equivalents
This include cash on hand and deposits with ﬁnancial institutions.
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~ Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and only when, the Society becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the ﬁnancial instrument. Financial liabilities are
initially recognised at fair value of the consideration received plus, in the case of a
ﬁnancial liability not at fair value through proﬁt or loss, directly attributable
transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the eﬀective
interest rate method.
Gain and losses are recognised in proﬁt or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the amortisation process. The liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is extinguished.
~ Provisions
A provision is recognised when there is a present obligation (legal and constructive)
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outﬂow of resources embodying
economic beneﬁts will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at end of each
reporting year and adjusted to reﬂect the current best estimate.
~ Critical Judgements, Assumptions and Estimation Uncertainties
The preparation of the Society's ﬁnancial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that aﬀect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at
the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amount of the asset or liability eﬀected in the future.
~ Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting year, that have a signiﬁcant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
ﬁnancial year are discussed below.
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Useful Lives of Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these property, plant
and equipment to be within 2 to 50 years. The carrying amount of the Group's property,
plant and equipment at 31 December 2016 is disclosed in note 9 to the ﬁnancial
statements. Changes in the expected level of usage and technological developments
could impact the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore
future depreciation charges could be revised.
Useful Lives of Investment Properties
Investment properties are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. Management estimates the useful lives of these investment properties to be within
50 years. The carrying amount of the Group's investment properties at 31 December 2016
is disclosed in note 11 to the ﬁnancial statements. Changes in the expected level of usage
and technological developments could impact the economic useful lives and the residual
values of these assets, therefore future depreciation charges could be revised.
Unquoted Investments at Cost
Unquoted investments are stated at cost less provision for impairment in value because
there is no reliable method to determine the fair value of these investments. Management
exercises judgement based on the observable data relating to the possible events that
may have caused the decline in value to determine whether the decline in value is an
impairment that should be recognised in the proﬁt or loss. For the ﬁnancial year ended
31 December 2016, the amount of unquoted investments stated at cost less provision for
impairment in value for Group and Society are unquoted shares in companies is disclosed
in note 12 to the ﬁnancial statements.
Allowance for Impairment of Receivables
The management establishes allowance for impairment of receivables on a case-by-case
basis when they believe that payment of amounts owed is unlikely to occur. In establishing
these allowances, the management considers its historical experience and changes to its
members’ ﬁnancial position. If the ﬁnancial conditions of members were to deteriorate,
resulting in impairment of their ability to make the required payments, additional
allowances may be required. The carrying amounts of the Group's and Society's loans to
members as at 31 December 2016 are disclosed in note 15 to the ﬁnancial statements.
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Held-to-Maturity Investments at Cost
Held-to-maturity investments are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
eﬀective interest rate method and less any impairment loss. Held-to-maturity investments
purchased before 1 January 2011 amounting to SGD 8,580,738 are not measured at
amortised cost using the eﬀective interest rate method, as the fair value cannot be
measured reliably. However, all purchases from 1 January 2011 are measured at amortised
cost using the eﬀective interest rate method. As at 31 December 2016, the carrying amounts
of held-to-maturity investments are disclosed in note 12 to the ﬁnancial statements.
Classiﬁcation of Current and Non-Current Liabilities
The Society is required to classify and apportion any liabilities that are due within one year
after the end of the reporting year. Management were to classify members' speciﬁc
deposits, share capital and subscription capital as current and non-current liabilities based
on the pattern of withdrawals and infusion of funds by members for their speciﬁc deposits
accounts, share capital accounts and subscription capital accounts for the last 3 years.
Management exercises judgement based on the withdrawal patterns and infusion of funds
in the last 3 years to estimate the apportion rate as current liabilities that are due within one
year after the end of the reporting year. The basis of estimates is reviewed at end of each
reporting year and adjusted to reﬂect the current best estimate. The carrying amount and
apportionment of members' speciﬁc deposits, share capital and subscription capital are set
out in note 23, note 25 and note 26 to the ﬁnancial statements respectively.

3. Related Party Relationship and Transactions
FRS 24 deﬁnes a related party as a person or entity that is related to the reporting entity and
it includes:
(a) A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that
person:
(i) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;
(ii) has signiﬁcant inﬂuence over the reporting entity; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent
of the reporting entity.
(b) An entity is related to the reporting entity if any of the following conditions apply:
(i) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group.
(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity.
(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.
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(v) The entity is a post-employment beneﬁt plan for the beneﬁt of employees of either the
reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.
(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identiﬁed in (a).
(vii) A person identiﬁed in (a)(i) has signiﬁcant inﬂuence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

3.1 Related companies
Related companies in these ﬁnancial statements are members of the group. There are
transactions and arrangements between the reporting entity and members of the group
and the eﬀects of these on the basis determined between the parties are reﬂected in these
ﬁnancial statements. The current intercompany balances are unsecured, without ﬁxed
repayment terms and interest unless stated otherwise. Intragroup transactions and
balances that have been eliminated in these ﬁnancial statements are not disclosed as
related party transactions and balances below.
Signiﬁcant related companies’ transactions:
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in the notes to the
ﬁnancial statements, this item includes the following:

Transactions with subsidiaries
Dividend income
Rental income
Interest income
Other income

2016
SGD

Society
2015
SGD

63,950
18,900
24,743
50

51,064
17,675
25,807
2,764

3.2 Related parties
There are transactions and arrangements between the reporting entity and related parties
and the eﬀects of these on the basis determined between the parties are reﬂected in these
ﬁnancial statements. The current related party balances are unsecured, without ﬁxed
repayment terms and interest unless stated otherwise.
There is no related parties’ transaction during the ﬁnancial year.
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4. Revenue
Group
2016
SGD

2015
SGD

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD

Consultancy services and other related services 491,310
623,835
Commission income
339,135
341,400
Renovation, décor and other services
7,311,694 8,524,335
8,142,139 9,489,570

-

-

Transactions within the Group have been excluded from consolidated revenue.

5. Depreciation and Amortisation

Group

Amortisation
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of investment properties

2016
SGD

2015
SGD

5,625
108,524
269,181
383,330

10,825
89,721
269,181
369,727

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
5,625
62,407
269,181
337,213

10,825
69,225
269,181
349,231

6. Employee Beneﬁts Expense
Group
2016
SGD
Contributions to deﬁned Contribution plan
(“CPF”) and Skills Development Levy (“SDL”)
Medical expenses
Directors' fee - current year
Directors' fee - prior year
Salaries and bonus
Staﬀ training and incentive

208,648
186,856 155,997 139,287
8,953
8,967
5,397
5,507
9,747
8,000
(600)
1,380,518 1,350,210 1,008,490 950,871
19,853
16,571
7,046
9,857
1,627,119 1,570,604 1,176,930 1,105,522
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2015
SGD
SGD
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7. Finance Cost
Group
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
Interest on members' speciﬁc deposits
408,836
Interest on members' term deposits
342,100
Interest on members' subscription-to-savings
scheme
1,666,405
2,417,341
# Dividend paid on share capital and
subscription capital
2,759,184
5,176,525

292,043
294,534

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
408,836
342,100

292,043
294,534

1,360,076 1,666,405 1,360,076
1,946,653 2,417,341 1,946,653
2,253,685 2,759,184 2,253,685
4,200,338 5,176,525 4,200,338

# Share capital and subscription capital are classiﬁed as liability. Thus, dividends thereon are
recognised as ﬁnance costs in the proﬁt or loss.
At the end of reporting year, ﬁnance cost of SGD 18,549 (2015: SGD 13,805) were paid to the
Society's staﬀ.

8. Income Tax Beneﬁt (Expense)

Group
2016
SGD
(3,600)
827
(2,773)

Current income tax
Over (under) provision in previous year

2015
SGD
(3,000)
(96)
(3,096)

Reconciliation of eﬀective tax rate
Surplus before income tax

1,099,374 2,286,025

Tax using the Singapore tax rate at 17% (2015: 17%)
Non-taxable items
Expenses not deductible for tax purpose
Tax exempt revenue and tax incentives
(Over) under provision in previous year
Other items
Total income tax expense

186,894 388,624
(423)
1,408
1,089
(183,558) (386,530)
(827)
96
(402)
(502)
2,773
3,096

The Societies are exempted from income tax under Section 13(1)(f)(ii) of the Income Tax
Act, Chapter 134.
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406,226

117,590
10,690
128,280
36,842
165,122
53,050
30,018

249,317
25,270
(8,047)
266,540
21,893
(3,940)
284,493
30,409
25,684

158,338
11,130
(13,497)
155,971
11,694
(1,066)
1,800
168,399

10,644
18,928

77,121
11,858
(4,470)
84,509
8,382
(11,824)
(1,800)
79,267

835
1,713

105,286
1,938
107,224
878
108,102

1,502,382
1,549,464

1,053,672
89,721
(26,014)
1,117,379
108,524
(16,830)
1,209,073

2,637,982
55,201
(26,340)
2,666,843
61,442
(16,830)
2,711,455

104,667
3,240
(4,470)
103,437
548
(11,824)
(2,250)
89,911

108,937
108,937
108,937

182,129
13,023
(13,497)
181,655
15,969
(1,066)
2,250
198,808

265,993
38,938
(8,373)
296,558
44,925
(3,940)
337,543

534,506
534,506
534,506

SGD

Total

Oﬃce Renovation
Furniture
and Equipment
Fitting
SGD
SGD
SGD

Computer
Leasehold
Property Hardware &
Software
SGD
SGD

The subsidiary's leasehold property with carrying amount of SGD 369,384 (2015: SGD 406,226) is mortgaged to secure for
commercial property loan with holding company (note 14).

1,038,060
1,066,895

346,020
28,835
374,855
28,835
403,690

Accumulated Depreciation
At 1.1.2015
Depreciation for year
Disposals
At 31.12.2015 and 1.1.2016
Depreciation for year
Disposals
Reclassiﬁcation
At 31.12.2016

Net Carrying Amount
At 31.12.2016
At 31.12.2015

1,441,750
1,441,750
1,441,750

Group
Cost
At 1.1.2015
Additions
Disposals
At 31.12.2015 and 1.1.2016
Additions
Disposals
Reclassiﬁcation
At 31.12.2016

SGD

9. Property, Plant and Equipment
Freehold
Property
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Society
Cost
At 1.1.2015
Additions
Disposals
At 31.12.2015 and 1.1.2016
Additions
Disposals
Reclassiﬁcation
At 31.12.2016
Accumulated Depreciation
At 1.1.2015
Depreciation for year
Disposals
At 31.12.2015 and 1.1.2016
Depreciation for year
Disposals
Reclassiﬁcation
At 31.12.2016
Net Carrying Amount
At 31.12.2016
At 31.12.2015

1,119,557
1,124,828
4,758
10,076
26,722
20,972
50,017
26,885

1,038,060
1,066,895

746,843
69,225
(25,781)
790,287
62,407
(2,466)
850,228
1,435
1,435
1,435
44,882
8,591
(4,470)
49,003
4,868
(1,851)
(1,800)
50,220
135,168
9,259
(13,497)
130,930
9,540
1,800
142,270

219,338
22,540
(7,814)
234,064
19,164
(615)
252,613

346,020
28,835
374,855
28,835
403,690

1,891,097
49,799
(25,781)
1,915,115
57,136
(2,466)
1,969,785
1,435
1,435
1,435

61,958
1,591
(4,470)
59,079
(1,851)
(2,250)
54,978

152,376
13,023
(13,497)
151,902
14,840
2,250
168,992

233,578
35,185
(7,814)
260,949
42,296
(615)
302,630

SGD

SGD

SGD

1,441,750
1,441,750
1,441,750

Total

Oﬃce Renovation
Equipment

Furniture
and
Fitting
SGD

Computer
Freehold
Property Hardware &
Software
SGD
SGD
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10. Intangible Assets
Computer
Software
SGD

Group and Society
Cost
At 1.1.2015
Disposals
At 31.12.2015 and 1.1.2016
Disposals
At 31.12.2016
Accumulated Amortisation
At 1.1.2015
Amortisation for year
At 31.12.2015 and 1.1.2016
Amortisation for year
Disposals
At 31.12.2016
Net Carrying Amount
At 31.12.2016
At 31.12.2015

428,451
4,500
432,951
(73,321)
359,630
404,351
10,825
415,176
5,625
(73,321)
347,480
12,150
17,775

11. Investment Properties

Freehold
Properties
SGD

Group and Society
Cost
At 1.1.2015
At 31.1.2015 and 1.1.2016
At 31.12.2016
Accumulated Depreciation
At 1.1.2015
Depreciation for year
At 31.12.2015 and 1.1.2016
Depreciation for year
At 31.12.2016
Net Carrying Amount
At 31.12.2016
At 31.12.2015

13,993,240
13,993,240
13,993,240
3,859,678
269,181
4,128,859
269,181
4,398,040
9,595,200
9,864,381
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The investment properties held by the Society as at 31 December 2016 are as follows:
Description and location
* Two adjoining 2- storey intermediate shophouses
- 259 Holland Avenue, Singapore
- 261 Holland Avenue, Singapore

Existing use
Commercial

Tenure
Freehold

4-storey commercial building with a basement carpark
known as SPCS Building, 250 Sims Avenue, Singapore
- #02-01
- #03-01

Commercial

Freehold

Two oﬃce units of a 4-storey shop-cum-oﬃce building
with a basement carpark known as Guthrie Building
- #01-01
- #02-01
- #02-01A

Commercial

Freehold

* Investment properties with carrying amount of SGD 4,761,905 (2015: SGD 4,910,714)
were mortgaged to secure for banking facilities (note 18).
The rental income earned by the Society for the year ended 31 December 2016 from
investment properties leased out under operating leases amounted to SGD 1,059,094
(2015: SGD 1,010,319).
Direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from rental
generating properties amounted to SGD 247,247 (2015: SGD 397,377).
The investment properties were valued at SGD 28,550,000 (2015: SGD 28,900,000) on
31 December 2016 by Suntec Real Estate Consultants Pte Ltd, an independent
professional valuer with a recognised and relevant professional qualiﬁcation and with
recent experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.
The valuations are based on the properties highest-and-best-use using the Direct Sales
Comparison Approach and Income Approach.
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12. Investment Securities

Group

Non-current
Held-to-maturity investments
Structured deposits
Quoted bonds and notes
Bonds from statutory board
Less: Accumulated impairment losses
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Quoted equities in corporation, at fair value
Less: Accumulated impairment losses
Unquoted investments, at cost
Shares in co-operative societies and companies:
NTUC Income Insurance Co-operative Limited
NTUC Choice Homes Co-operative
Premier Security Co-operative Limited
Secom (Singapore) Private Limited
AA-SPCS Services Pte Ltd
Total Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Total non-current investment securities
Current
Held-to-maturity investments
Quoted bonds and notes
Bonds from statutory board
Total current investment securities
Total investment securities
Analysis of Accumulated impairment losses
At beginning of year
Impairment for the year
Reversal to proﬁt or loss
At end of year

2016
SGD

2015
SGD

2016
SGD

Society
2015
SGD

900,000
37,137,378
19,013,874
(3,980,315)
53,070,937

900,000
40,010,982
21,493,905
(2,672,018)
59,732,869

900,000
36,637,378
19,013,874
(3,980,315)
52,570,937

900,000
39,510,982
21,493,905
(2,672,018)
59,232,869

4,555,775
(42,591)
4,513,184

4,442,803
4,442,803

4,555,775
(42,591)
4,513,184

4,442,803
4,442,803

250,000
200,000
1,450,000
350,000
150,000
2,400,000

250,000
200,000
1,450,000
350,000
150,000
2,400,000

250,000
200,000
1,450,000
350,000
2,250,000

250,000
200,000
1,450,000
350,000
2,250,000

6,913,184

6,842,803

6,763,184 6,692,803

59,984,121 66,575,672

59,334,121 65,925,672

22,034,430 7,426,938
2,974,850 15,060,797
25,009,280 22,487,735
84,993,401 89,063,407

22,034,430 7,426,938
2,974,850 15,060,797
25,009,280 22,487,735
84,343,401 88,413,407

2,672,018
1,350,888
4,022,906

2,035,000
720,839
(83,821)
2,672,018

2,672,018
1,350,888
4,022,906

2,035,000
720,839
(83,821)
2,672,018

The fair value of held-to-maturity investments of the Group and the Society were valued at
SGD 79,044,076 (2015: SGD 83,346,495) and SGD 78,542,076 (2015: SGD 82,836,495) respectively
based on in-house valuation provided by bank on the last market day of the ﬁnancial year.
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~ Impairment testing of investment securities
At the end of reporting year, the Group and the Society recognised the impairment
losses of SGD 4,022,906 (2015: SGD 2,672,018) for structured deposits and quoted
bonds and notes as there were signiﬁcant decline in the fair value of these
investments.
13. Investment in Subsidiaries

Group
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
1,717,155 1,679,000
- (385,000)
1,717,155 1,294,000

Unquoted shares, at cost
Accumulated impairment losses
Analysis of accumulated impairment losses
At beginning of year
Reversal to proﬁt or loss
At end of year

385,000
(385,000)
-

385,000
385,000

Details of subsidiaries:
Name

Principal Activities

Country of
Incorporation
and Business
Carried Out in

* Choice Décor
Co-operative
Society Ltd

Renovation and decor business.

Singapore

* SPCS Consultancy Consultancy services related to
Pte. Ltd.
security, law and order and
other areas.
* Audited by P G Wee Partnership LLP, Singapore
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Singapore

Proportion (%)
of Ownership
Interest
2016 % 2015 %
99.75 99.95

100

97
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14. Loan to a Subsidiary
Loans on:
Current
- Overdraft facility (Note (a))
- Commercial property loan (Note (b))
Non-current
- Commercial property loan (Note (b))
Total loans to a subsidiary

2016
SGD

Society
2015
SGD

440,000
26,318
466,318

500,000
25,132
525,132

206,490
672,808

232,808
757,940

(a) The overdraft facility is unsecured and not subject to any terms of repayment. Interest is
charged at 2.60% to 3.20% (2015: 2%) per annum.
(b) Commercial property loan was secured by the subsidiary's leasehold property. Interest
is charged at 3.50% per annum and increases at 0.25% every year until the 10th year which will
be charged at UOB's prime lending rate less 0.50% per annum on monthly rest basis. The
current year interest rate is 4.50% (2015: 4.50%). The remaining repayment period for
commercial property loan is repayable within 91 months (2015: 103 months).

15. Loans to Members

At beginning of year
Add: Loans given during the year
Less: Repayments during the year
Write-oﬀ against provision
Less: Allowance for impairment of receivables
At end of year
Analysis of Allowance for Impairment of Receivables
At beginning of year
Write-oﬀ against provision
At end of year
As disclosed in the statement of ﬁnancial position:
Receivable within the next 12 months – Current assets
Receivable after the next 12 months – Non-current assets

Group and Society
2015
2016
SGD
SGD
30,117,330 30,715,643
24,039,520 18,205,810
54,156,850 48,921,453
(21,067,709) (18,772,255)
(31,868)
(45,235)
30,117,330
33,043,906
(746,107)
(791,342)
32,297,799 29,325,988
(791,342)
45,235
(746,107)

(823,210)
31,868
(791,342)

12,097,401
11,156,134
20,200,398 18,169,854
32,297,799 29,325,988
Loans amounting to SGD 683,418 (2015: SGD 642,119) are secured by savings.
87th ANNUAL REPORT

--- 79 ---

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

The rates of interest for loans to members ranged between 3% to 12% (2015: 3% to 12%)
per annum. Interest rates are ﬁxed at contract dates. Loans to members are repayable
within a period of 1 month up to 120 months.
16. Trade and Other Receivables

Group
Society
2016
2015
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
1,258,802 1,472,542
268,001 392,794
Trade receivables
41,561
54,768
20
12,837
Other receivables
1,699,809 1,522,350 1,694,317 1,516,807
Interest receivables
4,076
1,057
Grant receivables
3,000,172 3,053,736 1,962,338 1,923,495
Trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing and generally on 30 days' credit terms.

~ Receivables that are past due but not impaired
The Group and the Society have trade receivables that are past due at the end of the
reporting year but not impaired. These receivables are unsecured and the analysis of the
ageing at the end of the reporting year is as follows:
Group
Society
2016
2016
2015
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
Trade receivable past due
268,001
392,794
268,001
392,794
Less than 30 days
149,096
9,000
31 days to 60 days
3,390
7,324
61 days to 90 days
More than 90 days
420,487
409,118
268,001 392,794
Trade receivables amounting to SGD 268,001 (2015: SGD 392,794) represent deductions
through salary check-oﬀ for the month of December 2016 which had been received in
January 2017.
17. Other Assets

Deposits
Prepayments

Group
2016
SGD
702,085
21,845
723,930

2015
SGD
478,992
21,754
500,746

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
395,760
4,760
17,564
16,007
413,324
20,767

Deposits include SGD 391,000 paid to third party for the purchase of intangible assets.
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18. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash in hand
Cash at bank
Fixed deposits

Group
2016
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
1,000
7,027
6,318
1,936,075
3,018,710 6,506,070
100,255,702 83,503,789 100,000,000
103,281,439 90,016,177 101,937,075

Society
2015
SGD
1,000
5,921,959
83,250,000
89,172,959

Fixed deposits bear interest rates ranging from 1.15% to 2.35% (2015: 0.70% to 2.35%)
per annum and for a tenure of approximately 3 to 36 months (2015: 3 to 36 months).
Group
2016
SGD
The maturity of ﬁxed deposits:
Maturing more than 12 months
Maturing less than 12 months

2015
SGD

2016
SGD

Society
2015
SGD

24,500,000 5,500,000 24,500,000 5,500,000
75,755,702 78,003,789 75,500,000 77,750,000
100,255,702 83,503,789 100,000,000 83,250,000

~ Banking facilities of the Society
At the end of the reporting year, the Group and the Society have bank facilities as
follows:Group and Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
1,990,000
1,990,000
Bank overdraft
10,000
10,000
Performance guarantees
The interest charged on the overdraft is the bank's prevailing prime rate, which is 5%
(2015: 5%) per annum, with monthly rest. The bank overdraft facilities are not utilised.
The bank overdraft facilities is secured by investment properties (note 11).
As at 31 December 2016, cash and cash equivalents denominated in foreign
currency are:
Group
Society
2016
2015 2016
2015
SGD
SGD SGD
SGD
55,279
55,279
United States Dollar
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19. General Reserve Fund

Group and Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
16,200,142 15,700,142
500,000
16,200,142 16,200,142

At beginning of year
Transferred from accumulated fund
At end of year
The reserve fund shall be used (By-Law 8.6):
(a) to meet unforeseen losses;
(b) to provide a margin beyond the liabilities of the Society so as to ensure its ability
to pay such liabilities in full in the event of dissolution; and
(c) to enable the Society by reason of the income derived from the Reserve Fund to
reduce the rate of interest on loans granted to members without causing a reduction
in the rate of dividend on share capital, bonus shares and subscription capital.

20. Common Good Fund

Group
Society
2016
2015
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
270,247 232,565 256,272 224,272
50,000 60,149 50,000 50,000
327,562
- 327,562
(8,975)
(18,200) (22,467) (18,200) (18,000)
620,634 270,247 615,634 256,272

At beginning of year
Transferred from accumulated fund
Transferred from advance collection from SPCC
Transferred to accumulated fund
Disbursed during the year
At end of year
The Common Good Fund was set up for the beneﬁt of the members of the Society
and may be devoted to any educational, medical, social or charitable purposes.

The fund shall be derived from an annual contribution not exceeding ten percent of
the net surplus of the Society (By-Law 8.7).
Group and Society
2015
2016
SGD
SGD
13,000
13,000
13,000
13,000
(13,000)
(13,000)
13,000
13,000

21. Scholarship Fund

At beginning of year
Transferred from accumulated fund
Disbursed during the year
At end of year

This fund is set up for the purpose of awarding scholarship to deserving children of
members.
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22. Term Deposits

Group and Society
2015
2016
SGD
SGD
32,104,109 34,947,695

At beginning of year
Add: Received during the year
- 1 year & 6 months
- 2 years
- 3 years
Less: Withdrawals during the year
- 1 year & 6 months
- 2 years
- 3 years
At end of year
As disclosed in the statement of ﬁnancial position:
Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities
Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

21,904,268
1,333,661
1,285,816
24,523,745

25,275,655
2,406,575
2,195,441
29,877,671

25,954,783
1,805,595
1,117,089
28,877,467
27,750,387

28,078,224
2,838,914
1,804,119
32,721,257
32,104,109

19,222,557
8,527,830
27,750,387

23,273,072
8,831,037
32,104,109

The term deposits received from members and staﬀ are for a period of 6 months,
12 months, 24 months and 36 months respectively at various interest rates payable on
maturity. The members and staﬀ can roll over the term deposits after the expiration
of the term or they can withdraw, subject to bank charges and other costs, at any
time within the term. The interest of term deposits are 0.50% to 1.60% (2015: 0.60% to
1.60%) per annum.
At the end of reporting year, the Society's staﬀ have SGD 55,548 (2015: SGD 40,491)
under the term deposits.
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23. Members' Speciﬁc Deposits

Group and Society
2015
2016
SGD
SGD
47,657,533 41,594,818
22,336,676 20,635,874
387,044
226,873
70,381,253 62,457,565
(17,204,984) (14,800,032)
53,176,269 47,657,533

At beginning of year
Add: Received during the year
Interest credited
Less: Withdrawn during the year
At end of year
As disclosed in the statement of ﬁnancial position:
Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities
Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

15,421,118 13,820,685
37,755,151 33,836,848
53,176,269 47,657,533

Interest is calculated based on daily balance. Interest will be credited into members'
accounts on the 1st day of January and July annually. The interest rates of members'
speciﬁc deposits are 0.60% to 0.90% (2015: 0.55% to 0.85%) per annum.
24. Subscription-To-Savings Scheme (STSS)

STSS Series 2
STSS Series 3
STSS Series 4
STSS Series 5
STSS Series 6
As disclosed in the statement of ﬁnancial position:
Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities
Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

Group and Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
5,256,455
17,482,606 17,762,186
12,088,117
11,819,612
3,948,258
10,620,386
43,870,862 35,106,758
397,330
43,473,532
43,870,862

5,528,725
29,578,033
35,106,758

This is in respect of amount transferred from subscription capital. The members will
earn interest on the principal sum deposited.
STSS Series 2 was issued in year 2012. The interest rate was 3.75% per annum for the
period from 1 November 2012 to 31 October 2016.
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STSS Series 3 was issued to replace STSS Series 1. The interest rate was 4.00% per
annum for the period from 1 November 2014 to 31 October 2019.
STSS Series 4 was issued in year 2014. The interest rate was 3.75% per annum for the
period from 1 November 2014 to 31 October 2018.
STSS Series 5 was issued to replace STSS Series 2. The interest rate was 3.50% per
annum for the period from 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2020.
STSS Series 6 was issued in year 2016. The interest rate was 3.25% per annum for the
period from 1 November 2016 to 31 October 2021.
For early withdrawals by a member, there will be a pro-rata claw-back of the interest
paid out with corresponding deduction made to the principal sum that would be
repaid to the member.
At the end of reporting year, the Society's staﬀ have SGD 397,330 (2015: SGD 298,470)
under the subscription-to-savings scheme.
25. Share Capital
Group and Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
Issued and fully paid share of SGD 1 each
At beginning of year
Additional shares issued
Less:
Share withdrawn
At end of year
As disclosed in the statement of ﬁnancial position:
Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities
Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

2,125,800
160,350
2,286,150

2,038,000
140,400
2,178,400

(57,750)
2,228,400

(52,600)
2,125,800

44,568
2,183,832
2,228,400

42,516
2,083,284
2,125,800

Each member shall hold at least 150 shares. No member shall hold more than one-ﬁfth
of the paid-up share capital of the Society (By-Law 8.3).

87th ANNUAL REPORT

--- 85 ---

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

26. Subscription Capital

At beginning of year
Contribution for the year
Withdrawn during the year
Transferred to Subscription-To-Savings Scheme (note 24)
At end of year

Group and Society
2015
2016
SGD
SGD
76,984,286 63,530,381
19,747,190 18,343,147
(6,878,914) (4,889,242)
(10,621,586)
79,230,976 76,984,286

As disclosed in the statement of ﬁnancial position:
Payable within the next 12 months – Current liabilities
Payable after the next 12 months – Non-current liabilities

5,613,445 5,498,380
73,617,531 71,485,906
79,230,976 76,984,286

Every member shall be allowed to subscribe a minimum monthly sum to his
Subscription Account in accordance with the Administrative Rules on Subscription
(By-Law 8.4). The minimum monthly subscription is currently at SGD 40 for each
member. The maximum subscription contributed by each member should not exceed
SGD 200 per month. Subscription capital may not be withdrawn except for such
purposes and under such conditions as laid down in the By-Laws or except on a
termination of membership.
At the end of reporting year, subscription capital of SGD 72,340 (2015: SGD 117,720)
were received from the Society's staﬀ.
27. Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables
Other payables
Interest payables
Accrued expenses
GST payables
Directors' fee

Group
2016
SGD
113,764
154,658
729,047
551,617
38,103
9,747
1,596,936
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2015
SGD
125,831
242,470
615,834
322,216
54,185
8,000
1,368,536

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
154,575
242,388
729,047
615,834
402,064
233,440
10,084
27,264
1,295,770 1,118,926

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

28. Other Liabilities
Group
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
2,000
2,000
35,901 365,073
221,711 226,254
259,612 593,327

Security deposits
Received in advance
Rental deposits

As disclosed in the statement of ﬁnancial position:

Group
2016
2015
SGD
SGD

Payable within the next 12 months
– Current liabilities
Payable after the next 12 months
– Non-current liabilities

29. Provision
Provision for
Shared-IT
At 1.1.2015
Reversal during the year
Utilised during the year
Additions during the year
At 31.12.2015 and 1.1.2016
Reversal during the year
Utilised during the year
At 31.12.2016

SGD
1,000,000
(950,000)
(50,000)
-

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
35,901 365,073
214,886 219,429
250,787 584,502
Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD

257,612

591,327

250,787 584,502

2,000
259,612

2,000
593,327

250,787 584,502

Group and Society
Provision Provision for
Total
Building
Expenses
Sinking Fund
SGD
SGD
SGD
- 1,525,072
525,072
- (950,000)
(72,500)
(22,500)
375,000
260,000
635,000
877,572
260,000 1,137,572
- (200,000)
(200,000)
- (75,000)
(75,000)
260,000
862,572
602,572

The provision for shared-IT related to compensation and penalty fee of SGD
1,000,000 on termination of contract in respect to system migration and other issues.
During ﬁnancial year ended 2015, the case had been resolved and compensation fee
of SGD 50,000 was mutually agreed between both parties and remaining of SGD
950,000 was reversed to statement of comprehensive income.
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Provision expenses represents the Society's expenditure such as retirement party,
employment and staﬀ-related program and other expenditures based on
management estimates with current and historical information.
Provision for Building Sinking Fund represents the Society additional contribution
towards the maintenance and upgrade fund for SPCS Building, 250 Sims Avenue,
Singapore. This provision was based on the estimated replacement costs for the
building by the management agent of MCST 2135 during the 16th Annual General
Meeting held on 12 February 2015.
30. Central Co-operative Fund
Pursuant to Section 71 of the Co-operative Societies Act, Chapter 62, the Society shall
contribute 5% of the ﬁrst SGD 500,000 of the surplus resulting from the operations of
the Society during the preceding ﬁnancial year to the Central Co-operative Fund; and
20% of any surplus in excess of SGD 500,000 from the operations of the Society during
the preceding ﬁnancial year either to the Central Co-operative Fund or to the
Singapore Labour Foundation as the Society may opt.

Contribution for the year
Unpaid contribution from previous year

31. Proposed Honorarium

At beginning of year
Amount disbursed (including meeting fee)
Provision (reversal)
At end of year

Group
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
732,484 787,372
- 123,884
732,484 911,256

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
721,547 777,217
- 123,884
721,547 901,101

Group
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
8,606
- (8,606)
-

Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
-

The service of a member of the Board of Directors shall be gratuitous by way of
honorarium subject to compliance with By-Law 7.13.1. The Board of Directors of the
Society has proposed no honorarium for the current year.
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32. Dividends

Group

Declared and paid
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests

2016
SGD

2015
SGD

1,065

1,265

Proposed but not recognised as a liability
The Society's Board of Directors has proposed a ﬁnal dividend of 3.00% (2015: 3.50%)
on the members' shares and subscriptions as at 31 December 2016.
33. Operating Lease Arrangements
Operating Lease Expense
At the end of the reporting year, the total of future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Group

Rental Payable
Not later than one year
Later than one year but not
later than ﬁve years

Society

2016
SGD

2015
SGD

2016
SGD

2015
SGD

17,400

69,600

17,400

17,400
87,000

-

-

Operating lease payments are for rentals payable for oﬃce premises. The lease
rental terms are negotiated for an average term of two to three years and rentals
are not subject to an escalation clause.
Operating Lease Income
The Group and Society leases out its investment properties under non-cancellable
lease arrangements. At the end of the reporting year, the Group and Society have
future minimum rent receivables under non-cancellable operating leases which fall
due as follows:
Group
Society
2015
2016
2015
2016
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
Rental Receivable
1,251,905
1,252,173
1,195,497
1,250,354
Not later than one year
Later than one year but not
1,199,787
1,210,978
1,201,362
1,198,378
later than ﬁve years
2,451,692
2,463,151
2,451,716
2,393,875
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34. Capital Commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for as at the end of the reporting period but not
recognised in the ﬁnancial statements are as follows:
Group and Society
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
Capital commitments in respect of intangible assets

428,500

-

35. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
The main risks from the Group's and the Society's ﬁnancial instruments are interest
rate risk, currency risk, liquidity risk, credit risk and market risk. The policies for
managing each of these risks are summarised below.
~ Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash ﬂows of the Group's and
the Society's ﬁnancial instruments will ﬂuctuate because of changes in market
interest rates. The Group and the Society are exposed to interest rate risk through
the impact of rate changes on interest-earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities.
Sensitivity Analysis for Interest Rate Risk
The following carrying amounts of interest-earning assets and interest-bearing
liabilities of the Group and the Society that are exposed to interest rate risk:
Group
Society
2016
2015
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
Interest-earning assets
78,080,217 82,220,604 77,580,217 81,720,604
Investment securities
32,297,799 29,325,988 32,297,799 29,325,988
Loans to members
103,281,439
90,016,177 101,937,075 89,172,959
Cash and cash equivalents
213,659,455 201,562,769 211,815,091 200,219,551
Interest-bearing liabilities
27,750,387
32,104,109 27,750,387 32,104,109
Term deposits
53,176,269 47,657,533
53,176,269
47,657,533
Members' speciﬁc deposits
43,870,862
35,106,758
43,870,862
35,106,758
Subscription-to-Savings scheme
124,797,518 114,868,400 124,797,518 114,868,400
85,351,151
88,861,937 86,694,369 87,017,573
Net interest-earning assets
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At the end of the reporting year, if SGD interest rates had been 0.5% (2015: 0.5%)
lower/ higher with all other variables held constant, the Group's and the Society's
proﬁt would have been SGD 444,310 (2015: SGD 433,472) and SGD 435,088 (2015: SGD
426,756) higher/ lower respectively.
~ Currency Risk
The Group and the Society have transactional currency exposures arising from sales
or purchases that are denominated in a currency other than Singapore Dollar ("SGD").
The foreign currencies in which these transactions are denominated are mainly
United States Dollar ("USD").
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies during the year have been converted
into Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) at exchange rates approximating those ruling at
transaction date. Transaction risk is calculated in each foreign currency and includes
foreign currency denominated assets and liabilities and ﬁrm and probable purchases
and sales commitments.
Sensitivity Analysis for Foreign Currency Risk
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group's and the Society’s
proﬁt (loss) before taxation to a reasonably possible change in the Singapore Dollar
(“SGD”) exchange rates against United States Dollar (“USD”), with all other variables
held constant.
Society
Group
Proﬁt (loss) before Tax
Proﬁt (loss) before Tax
2016
2015
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
USD/SGD
1,658
1,658
Strengthened 3% (2015: 3%)
(1,658)
(1,658)
Weakened 3% (2015: 3%)
~ Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Society will not be able to meet their
ﬁnancial obligations as and when they fall due. The Group's and the Society's
exposure to liquidity risk arise primarily from mismatches of the maturities of ﬁnancial
assets and liabilities.
The Group and the Society review their working capital requirements to assess the
adequacy of cash and cash equivalents to ﬁnance the operations.
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Total net undiscounted
assets (liabilities)

18,891,920

29,578,033 35,106,758
1,368,536
228,254
2,000
23,208
911,256
145,817,108 196,509,740
5,528,725
1,368,536
226,254
23,208
911,256
50,692,632
43,870,862
1,596,936
223,711
13,458
732,484
208,823,483
43,473,532
2,000
165,559,876

71,000,142 (52,108,222)

8,831,037 32,104,109
33,836,848 47,657,533
2,125,800
2,083,284
71,485,906 76,984,286
23,273,072
13,820,685
42,516
5,498,380

27,750,387
53,176,269
2,228,400
79,230,976

8,527,830
37,755,151
2,183,832
73,617,531

20,220,426

69,247,690 91,735,425
18,961,196 30,117,330
3,053,736
478,992
5,500,000 90,016,177
93,708,886 215,401,660

22,487,735
11,156,134
3,053,736
478,992
84,516,177
121,692,774

89,016,307
64,007,027
33,043,906
20,946,505
3,000,172
702,085
24,500,000 103,281,439
109,453,532 229,043,909

76,326,770 (56,106,344)

Financial assets
Investment securities
25,009,280
Loans to members
12,097,401
Trade and other receivables 3,000,172
Other assets
702,085
Cash and cash equivalents
78,781,439
119,590,377
Financial liabilities
Term deposits
19,222,557
Members' speciﬁc deposits
15,421,118
Share capital
44,568
Subscription capital
5,613,445
Subscription-To-Savings
Scheme (STSS)
397,330
Trade and other payables
1,596,936
Other liabilities
221,711
Ex-member's accounts
13,458
Central co-operative fund
732,484
43,263,607

The table below summarises the maturity proﬁle of the Group's and the Society's ﬁnancial assets and liabilities
at the end of the reporting year based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations.
Group
Group
2016
2015
Total
1 year More than
Total
1 year
More than
1 year
or less
or less
1 year
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD

Analysis of Financial Instruments by Remaining Contractual Maturities
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Total net undiscounted
assets (liabilities)

43,473,532
165,557,876

397,330
1,295,770
214,886
13,458
721,547
42,944,679

74,423,493 (56,547,854)

8,527,830
37,755,151
2,183,832
73,617,531

Financial assets
Investment securities
25,009,280
Loan to a subsidiary
466,318
Loans to members
12,097,401
Trade and other receivables 1,962,338
Other assets
395,760
Cash and cash equivalents
77,437,075
117,368,172
19,222,557
15,421,118
44,568
5,613,445

63,357,027
206,490
20,946,505
24,500,000
109,010,022

1 year
or less
SGD

Financial liabilities
Term deposits
Members' speciﬁc deposits
Share capital
Subscription capital
Subscription-To-Savings
Scheme (STSS)
Other payables
Other liabilities
Ex-member's accounts
Central co-operative fund

Society
2016
More than
1 year
SGD

69,344,173 (52,523,414)

16,820,759

29,578,033 35,106,758
1,118,926
219,429
23,208
901,101
145,815,108 196,241,150
5,528,725
1,118,926
219,429
23,208
901,101
50,426,042
43,870,862
1,295,770
214,886
13,458
721,547
208,502,555
17,875,639

8,831,037 32,104,109
33,836,848 47,657,533
2,125,800
2,083,284
71,485,906 76,984,286

68,597,690 91,085,425
757,940
232,808
18,961,196 30,117,330
1,923,495
4,760
5,500,000 89,172,959
93,291,694 213,061,909

SGD

Total

23,273,072
13,820,685
42,516
5,498,380

22,487,735
525,132
11,156,134
1,923,495
4,760
83,672,959
119,770,215

1 year
or less
SGD

27,750,387
53,176,269
2,228,400
79,230,976

88,366,307
672,808
33,043,906
1,962,338
395,760
101,937,075
226,378,194

SGD

Total

Society
2015
More than
1 year
SGD
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~ Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding ﬁnancial instruments should a
party default on its obligations.
Exposure to Credit Risk
Credit risk arises from the Group's and the Society's lending and investment activities
where members are unable to meet their contractual liabilities when they fall due. Credit
to members is reviewed regularly to ensure that credit risk is supported by adequate
guarantees and their earnings. Exposure to loan lending is minimised by a policy of
generally granting loans on the conduct of regular review. Loans are mainly granted to a
co-operative in which the Society has an equity interest and is represented on the Board
of Directors.
The Group's exposure to credit risk arises primarily from trade and other receivables.
For other ﬁnancial assets (including cash and cash equivalents), the Group minimises
credit risk by dealing exclusively with parties of high credit ratings.
At the end of the reporting year, the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each class of ﬁnancial assets recognised in the
statement of ﬁnancial position.
The Group's objective is to seek continual revenue growth while minimising losses
incurred due to increased credit risk exposure. The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade on
credit terms are subject to credit veriﬁcation procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts
is not signiﬁcant.
The Group has no signiﬁcant concentration of credit risk.
Financial Assets that are Neither Past Due nor Impaired
Trade and other receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are creditworthy
debtors with good payment record with the Group. Cash and cash equivalents, that are
neither past due nor impaired are placed with or entered into with reputable companies
with high credit ratings and no history of default.
Financial Assets that are Either Past Due or Impaired
Information regarding ﬁnancial assets that are either past due or impaired is disclosed in
note 16 (trade receivables).
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~ Market Risk
The Group and the Society are exposed to equity risks arising from equity investments
classiﬁed as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale equity investments are held for
strategic rather than trading purposes.
Further details of these equity investments can be found in note 12 to the ﬁnancial
statements.
Sensitivity Analysis for Equity Price Risk
At the end of the reporting year, if the prices for quoted equities had been 2%
(2015: 2%) higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Group's and
Society's fair value reserve would increase/decrease by SGD 91,116 (2015: SGD 88,856).
36. Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
(A) Fair value of ﬁnancial instruments that are carried at fair value
~ Fair value hierarchy
The Group categories fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that is
dependent on the valuation inputs used as follows:
• Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the Group can access at the measurement date;
• Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly
(i.e., derived from prices); and
• Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).
Fair value measurements that use inputs of diﬀerent hierarchy levels are categorised
in its entirety in the same level of the fair value hierarchy as the lowest level input that
is signiﬁcant to the entire measurement.
The following table shows an analysis of the Group and the Society for each class of
assets and liabilities measured at fair value at the end of the reporting year.
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Recurring fair value measurements
Financial assets:
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets (note 12)
Quoted equities securities

Group and Society
Quoted prices in active
Markets for identical
Instruments (Level 1)
2016
SGD
4,555,775

2015
SGD
4,442,803

~ Determination of fair value
Quoted equity instruments (note 12): Fair value is determined directly by reference
to their published market bid price at the end of the reporting year.
Unquoted equity securities amounting SGD 2,400,000 (2015: SGD 2,400,000) and
being classiﬁed as available for sale assets, are valued using valuation models which
use both observable and non-observable data. Fair value information has not been
disclosed for the Group’s investments in equity securities that are carried at cost
because fair value cannot be measured reliably.
The Group does not intend to dispose of this investment in the foreseeable future.
The Group intends to eventually dispose of this investment through sale to
institutional investors. The non-observable inputs to the models include
assumptions regarding the future ﬁnancial performance of the investee, its risk
proﬁle, and economic assumptions regarding the industry and geographical
jurisdiction in which the investee operates.
(B) Assets and liabilities not carried at fair value but for which fair value is disclosed
The following table shows an analysis of the Group and the Society for each class of
assets and liabilities not measured at fair value at the end of the reporting year but
for which fair value is disclosed.
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Financial assets:
Held-to-maturity investments
(note 12)
Non-ﬁnancial assets:
Investments properties
(note 11)

Financial assets:
Held-to-maturity investments
(note 12)
Non-ﬁnancial assets:
Investments properties
(note 11)

Group
Quoted prices in active
Signiﬁcant observable
markets for identical
inputs other than
instruments (Level 1)
quoted prices (Level 2)
2016
2015
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
79,044,076

83,346,495

-

-

-

-

28,550,000 28,900,000

Society
Quoted prices in active
Signiﬁcant observable
markets for identical
inputs other than
instruments (Level 1)
quoted prices (Level 2)
2016
2015
2016
2015
SGD
SGD
SGD
SGD
78,542,076

82,836,495

-

-

-

-

28,550,000 28,900,000

Fair value is determined for the above table of the Group and the Society are
disclosed in respective note to the ﬁnancial statements.
(C) Fair value of ﬁnancial instruments by classes that are not carried at fair value and
whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation of fair value
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current
receivables and payables, provisions and other liabilities and amounts payable
approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of
these ﬁnancial instruments.
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37. Classiﬁcation of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The following table summarises the carrying amount of ﬁnancial assets and
liabilities recorded at the end of the reporting year by FRS 39.
2016
SGD

Group

Society

2015
SGD

2016
SGD

82,220,604

77,580,217

81,720,604

122,874,893 137,265,780
6,842,803
6,763,184

121,185,142
6,692,803

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
(including share capital repayable
208,823,483 196,509,740 208,502,555
on demand)

196,241,150

Financial assets
78,080,217
Held-to-maturity investments
Loans and receivables
(including cash and cash equivalents) 139,281,495
6,913,184
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets

2015
SGD

38. New Accounting Standards and FRSs Interpretations
At the date of authorisation of these ﬁnancial statements, the following FRSs,
INT FRSs and amendments to FRS that are relevant to the group were issued but
not yet eﬀective:
Description
Eﬀective for annual periods
beginning on or after
Amendments to FRS 1: Disclosure Initiative
1 January 2017
Amendments to FRS 7: Disclosure Initiatives
1 January 2017
FRS 109 Financial Instruments
1 January 2018
FRS 116 Leases
1 January 2019
Except for FRS 109 and FRS 116, the directors expect that the adoption of the other
standards and interpretations above will have no material impact on the ﬁnancial
statements in the period of initial application.
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The nature of the impending changes in accounting policy on adoption of FRS 109
and FRS 116 are described below.
FRS 109 Financial Instruments
FRS 109 introduces new requirements for classiﬁcation and measurement of
ﬁnancial assets, impairment of ﬁnancial assets and hedge accounting. Financial
assets are classiﬁed according to their contractual cash ﬂow characteristics and the
business model under which they are held. The impairment requirements in FRS 109
are based on an expected credit loss model and replace the FRS 39 incurred loss
model.
(a) Classiﬁcation and measurement
The Group currently measures one of its investments in unquoted equity securities
at cost. Under FRS 109, the Group will be required to measure the investment at fair
value. Any diﬀerence between the previous carrying amount under FRS 39 and the
fair value would be recognised in the opening retained earnings when the Group
applies FRS 109.
(b) Impairment
FRS 109 requires the Group to record expected credit losses on all of its debt
securities, loans and trade receivables, either on a 12-month or lifetime basis. The
Group expects to apply the simpliﬁed approach and record lifetime expected losses
on all trade receivables. Upon application of the expected credit loss model, the
Group expects a signiﬁcant impact on its equity due to unsecured nature of its loans
and receivables, but it will need to perform a more detailed analysis which considers
all reasonable and supportable information, including forward-looking elements to
determine the extent of impact.
Transition
The Group plans to adopt the new standard on the required eﬀective date without
restating prior periods’ information and recognises any diﬀerence between the
previous carrying amount and the carrying amount at the beginning of the annual
reporting period at the date of initial application in the opening retained earnings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the ﬁnancial year ended 31 December 2016

FRS 116 Leases
FRS 116 requires lessees to recognise most leases on balance sheets to reﬂect the
rights to use the leased assets and the associated obligations for lease payments as
well as the corresponding interest expense and depreciation charges. The standard
includes two recognition exemption for lessees – leases of ‘low value’ assets and
short term leases. The new standard is eﬀective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2019.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of the new standard and plans to adopt
the new standard on the required eﬀective date. The Group expects the adoption of
the new standard will result in increase in total assets and total liabilities.
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EXPENDITURE FOR FY2017 - FY2018

Revenue Expenditure for

FY2017

Oﬃce at 250 Sims Ave #04-01

$
6,583,125

FY2017
(Adjustments)
$
(1,243,356)

$
5,809,962

5,794

-

5,794

Back-up Oﬃce

FY2018

Investment Properties
• 259 Holland Avenue
• 261 Holland Avenue
• #01-01 & #02-01/01A Guthrie Building
• #02-01 & #03-01 SPCS Building
Total

708,500

(57,500)

686,000

7,297,419

(1,300,856)

6,501,756

Capital Expenditure for:
Oﬃce at 250 Sims Ave #04-01

$
135,000

$
548,000

$
564,000

Investment Properties:
•
259 Holland Avenue
•
261 Holland Avenue
•
#01-01 & #02-01/01A Guthrie Building
•
#02-01 & #03-01 SPCS Building
Total

10,000
10,000
155,000

40,000
588,000

10,000
50,000
624,000

Please refer to Pages 102 and 103 for detailed listing of expenditure.
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REVENUE EXPENDITURE (OFFICE) FOR FY2017 – FY2018
Oﬃce:
(250 Sims Ave #04-01)

FY2017

Advertising & Promotion
(Include social and recreational activities)
Aﬃliation Fee
Auditor’s Remuneration(Internal –Members)
Auditor’s Remuneration (Internal-Professional)
Auditor's Remuneration(External)
Bank & Broking Charges
CPF & SDF
Debts Recovery Expense
Depreciation
General Meeting Expense (AGM/EOGM)
General Expenses
Goods & Services Tax
Insurance Premium (Loans)
Interest on Financing (Oﬃce)
Interest on Fixed Deposit
Interest on Speciﬁc Deposit
Interest on Subscription-to-Savings Scheme
Maintenance Expenses
Medical/Insurance Expenses
Property Maintenance Fund & Other Expense
Property Sinking Fund
Property Tax
Postage
Professional Fee
Printing & Stationery
PUB Charges
Service Charges
Staﬀ Service Beneﬁt
Staﬀ Salaries & Bonuses
Staﬀ Training
Study Tour/Retreat
Telephone/SMS
Training (Directors)
Transport/Despatch

FY2018

$

FY2017
(Adjustments)
$

118,000
3,000
7,200
30,000
16,000
12,000
178,000
10,000
267,000
24,000
79,000
36,000
950,000
18,200
454,000
697,000
2,165,000
102,765
25,200
28,440
9,480
11,800
16,000
50,000
43,500
20,000
59,000
15,000
1,048,540
20,000
20,000
14,000
20,000
15,000
6,583,125

200
2,000
1,500
(74,000)
(6,700)
(266,000)
(288,000)
(553,000)
(40,700)
2,844
1,000
(3,500)
(19,000)
(1,243,356)

115,000
3,250
7,200
30,000
18,000
14,000
183,600
10,000
304,000
24,000
84,000
36,000
950,000
15,200
211,000
675,000
1,581,000
119,000
25,200
32,232
9,480
12,800
16,000
50,000
40,000
20,000
40,000
15,000
1,080,000
20,000
20,000
14,000
20,000
15,000
5,809,962
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$

REVENUE EXPENDITURE (OFFICE) FOR FY2017 – FY2018

Oﬃce (Backup)

FY2017

Depreciation
General Expenses
Goods & Services Tax
Rental
Transport

$
1,000
294
4,200
300
5,794

Capital Expenditure for Oﬃce
(250 Sims Ave #04-01)

FY2017
$
87,000
3,000
20,000
15,000
10,000
135,000

Computer Software Program
Computer Hardware
Furniture & Fittings
Oﬃce Equipment
Renovation

FY2017
(Adjustments)
$
-

FY2018

FY2017
(Adjustments)
$
493,000
35,000
20,000
548,000

FY2018

$
1,000
294
4,200
300
5,794

$
486,000
3,000
50,000
15,000
10,000
564,000

Expenditure for 2016 – 2017
• 259 Holland Avenue
• 261 Holland Avenue
• #01-01 Guthrie Building
• #02-01/01A Guthrie Building
• #02-01 SPCS Building
• #03-01 SPCS Building
Revenue Expenditure

FY2017

Depreciation
Interest on Financing
Maintenance/Repairs
Maintenance Fund/Sinking Fund
Other Expenses
Property Tax

$
270,000
168,000
45,000
94,000
20,000
111,500
708,500
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FY2017
(Adjustments)
$
(62,000)
4,500
(57,500)

FY2018
$
270,000
140,000
45,000
100,500
20,000
110,500
686,000

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the 87th Annual General Meeting of The Singapore
Police Co-operative Society Ltd will be held at 11.00 am on 1st June 2017 at
HomeTeamNS-JOM Clubhouse, Function Hall, 31 Ah Hood Road Singapore 329979
AGENDA
1 Opening Address by the Chairman, Mr Christopher Ng.
2 Address by the President, Commissioner of Police, Mr Hoong Wee Teck.
3 To approve the Minutes of the 86th AGM held on 9th June 2016 at HomeTeam
NS-JOM Clubhouse.
4 Matters arising from the Said Minutes (86th AGM).
5 To approve the Minutes of the Extraordinary General Meeting held on
19th October 2016 at HomeTeamNS-JOM Clubhouse.
6 Matters arising from the Said Minutes (EOGM).
7 To receive & if approved, to adopt the Report of the Board of Directors for the year
ended 31 December 2016.
8 To receive & if approved, to accept the Audited Financial Statements for the year
ended 31 December 2016.
9 To approve the appropriation of net surplus of $4,001,034 as follows:

(1) To Central Co-operative Fund @ 5% on the ﬁrst $500,000 &
@ 20% on the rest
(2) To Payment of Dividends @ 3.50% on the members' shares
and subscription as on 31st December 2015
(3) To Scholarship Fund
(4) To Common Good Fund
(5) To Accumulated Fund
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$ 721,547
$2,759,184
$ 13,000
$ 50,000
$ 457,303

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
10 To approve a ﬁnal dividend payment of 3.00% based on members’ shares and
subscription as at 31 December 2016 to be paid in FY2017.
11 To approve the adjustments for FY2017 and the estimated Expenditure for FY2018.
12 To adopt, and if approved, the following resolution:
“that the general meeting authorise the Board to invest up to 30% of the Society’s
total assets in restricted investments, for a period of 3 years. Following the
approval of members, the Board will seek approval from the Registrar.”
As at 31 December 2016, the Society’s restricted investments amounted to
$61,831,332 or 27% of total assets. The breakdown of the investment is as follows:
Income
2015

$ 281,427 $ 384,816

b. Corporate Bonds
(including variable notes)

$55,635,993 $45,267,081

$2,067,877 $2,135,971

c. Shares in Joint Venture
Companies (private limited)

$ 1,067,155 $ 1,029,000 $ 255,850 $ 530,740

d. Shares in other co-operatives
(invest after 30 June 2010)
Total
Annual Return

$

a. Securities listed
on SGX

As at 31
December
2016
$ 4,513,184

Income
2016

As at 31
December
2015
$ 4,442,803

Restricted
Investments

615,000 $

$61,831,332

615,000 $

$51,353,884

30,000 $

10,324

$2,635,154 $3,061,851
4.26%
5.96%

Based on total assets of $234,070,807 as at 31 December 2016, total assets will
amount to $70,221,242.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
If members approve the 30% limit, the Board plans to place the investible funds
broadly based on the following asset allocation:
Portfolio
a. Corporate Bonds
(including variable notes)
b. Securities listed on SGX
c. Investment Properties
d. Joint Ventures
e. Unit Trust
f. Managed Funds
Total

Proposed

Current
(approved on
9 June 2016)
max 87.5%

max 87.5%

max 10.0%
Nil
max 2.5%
Nil
Nil
100%

max 10%
max 10%
max 10%
Nil
max 80%
100%

With the proposed investment plan, the Board hopes to generate annual returns of
between 2.5% to 4% per annum for the period of 3 years.
All investment transactions are to be approved by the Investment Committee
and/or the Board.
13 To authorise the Board to appoint a professional audit ﬁrm, where necessary, to
be Internal Auditors of the Co-operative for FY2017/2018 and to ﬁx its remuneration.
14 To authorise the Board to appoint two members, where necessary, as Internal
Auditors of the Co-operative for FY2017/2018 and to ﬁx their remuneration.
15 To authorise the Board to appoint a professional audit ﬁrm as External Auditors
of the Co-operative for FY2017/2018 and to ﬁx its remuneration.
16 To elect 1 member to the Board of Directors as per by-law 7.6. Please refer to
Annex A for the election procedures.
17 To transact any other business in respect of which notice has been received by
the Secretary three working days before the Meeting.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr Tan Chia Han
Secretary
Note:
1) Annual Report is available for download from the Co-operative’s website
(www.policecoop.org.sg).
2) Lunch will be served.
3) Dividends will be credited into members' bank accounts on 15 June 2017.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE ELECTION OF A DIRECTOR
Annex A
1. The right to vote for a director applies only to Ordinary Members.
2. There should be one proposer and one seconder for every candidate.
The member must use the microphone provided to announce his/her name and
then the name of the candidate that he/she is proposing/seconding.
3. Each member shall use the voting card that is given to every Ordinary Member at
the time of registration. Attention must be given to the rules and regulations as
spelt out on the top portion of the voting card.
4. A member whose name has been proposed and seconded will have to proceed to
the front of the stage. The member must bring along his/her voting card with
him/her. A number tag will be assigned to the member.
5. To expedite the counting of votes, members are required only to ﬁll in the number
that is allocated to the candidates standing for election in the voting card.
Members are not supposed to write down the name of the candidate as it would
nullify the vote. A voter who decides to change a number in the voting card must
strike it out and replace it by a new one, with the voter's signature next to it.
6. Members must hand over the voting card to the staﬀ once they have ﬁnished
voting. The voting card must not be torn by the voter himself/herself as it would
nullify the vote.
7. Members are cordially reminded to remain seated for the duration of the voting
process unless otherwise directed. The staﬀ will collect the voting card from
voters.
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